
Economy and Enterprise 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date Tuesday 25 September 2018
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members 
of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the meeting held 26 June 2018  (Pages 3 - 16)
4. Declarations of Interest, if any  
5. Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties, if any  
6. Media Relations  
7. Tackling Empty Properties Initiative - Overview:  (Pages 17 - 20)

(i) Joint Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships and 
the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services.

(ii) Presentation by Head of Environment, Health and Consumer 
Protection, Regeneration and Local Services.

8. Business Durham:  (Pages 21 - 32)
(i) Joint Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships and 

the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services.
(ii) Presentation by Business Development Director, Business Durham.

9. Quarter 4, 2017/18 and Quarter 1, 2018/19 Revenue and Capital Outturn:  
(Pages 33 - 54)

  Joint Report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services 
  and the Corporate Director of Resources - Principal Accountant, Resources.



10. Quarter 1, 2018/19 Performance Management Report:  (Pages 55 - 74)
  Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships – Strategy Team 
  Leader, Transformation and Partnerships.

11. Overview and Scrutiny - County Durham Plan Workshop - 9 July 2018 - 
Overview and Scrutiny Response:  (Pages 75 - 90)

  Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships.
12. Minutes from the County Durham Economic Partnership meeting held on 5 

July 2018  (Pages 91 - 94)
13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the meeting, is of 

sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

  County Hall
  Durham
  17 September 2018

To: The Members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee:

Councillor A Batey (Chairman)
Councillor M Clarke (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors E Adam, J Atkinson, R Crute, S Dunn, D Hall, T Henderson, P Howell, 
S Iveson, P Jopling, L Maddison, J Maitland, R Manchester, R Ormerod, 
A Patterson, A Reed, E Scott, P Sexton, L Taylor and M Wilson

Co-opted Members:

Mr G Binney and Mrs R Morris

Contact: Martin Tindle Tel: 03000 269 713



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

ECONOMY AND ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

At a Meeting of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in 
Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 26 June 2018 at 9.30 am

Present:

Councillor A Batey (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors E Adam, J Atkinson, M Clarke, R Crute, S Dunn, D Hall, T Henderson, 
P Howell, S Iveson, P Jopling, L Maddison, J Maitland, R Manchester, R Ormerod, 
A Patterson, E Scott, L Taylor and M Wilson

Co-opted Members:
Mr G Binney and Mrs R Morris

Apologies:
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Reed, P Sexton, J Charlton, 
J Considine, C Potts and H Smith

Also Present:
Councillors J Clare

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A Reed, P Sexton, J Charlton, 
J Considine, C Potts and H Smith, Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Members, invited to attend in respect of Item 8 – DurhamWorks.

2 Substitute Members 

No notification of Substitute Members had been received.

3 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held 5 April 2018 were agreed as a correct record and signed 
by the Chairman.

Councillor P Howell confirmed that following the last meeting he had met with the Principal 
Accountant as regards his queries in terms of how information was presented, information 
looking at outcomes and looking at the large changes between Quarters 2 and 3 in terms 
of accuracy and reporting.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



He commented that he intended to have a further discussion with the Principal Accountant 
prior to the September meeting in relation to how the information is presented and to 
provide detail of questions that he would intend to ask at the Committee.

4 Declarations of Interest 

Councillor A Patterson declared an interest in Item 8 as an employer.

5 Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties 

There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties.

6 Media Relations 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer, Diane Close referred Members to the recent prominent 
articles and news stories relating to the remit of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (for copy see file of minutes).
  
The articles included: the County Durham Plan being considered by Cabinet on 16 June, 
highlighting the next stage – preferred options consultation, to last 6 weeks; Sheet metal 
firm doubles turnover, Hydram Engineering boosting profits after investing in new 
machinery; Kromek securing a 5 year contract to supply radiation detection technology; 
and DurhamWorks participants being celebrated at an awards ceremony, including both 
young people and employers. 

Resolved:

That the presentation be noted.

7 County Durham Economic Partnership - Overview of activity 

The Chairman introduced the Chairman of the County Durham Economic Partnership 
(CDEP), Professor Brian Tanner who was in attendance to provide the Committee with an 
overview of the activity in relation to the CDEP (for copy see file of minutes).

The Chairman, CDEP explained that the report and presentation would not differ greatly 
from the previous year, however, noting several new Members on the Committee it would 
be of benefit for those Members.  He explained he was one of several Chairman of 
thematic groups, under the umbrella of the County Durham Partnership (CDP).  Members 
noted that the CDEP had a vision: “We wish to see County Durham as a highly valued 
centre for business growth and innovation; with a vibrant local economy, high value 
employment opportunities, a quality housing offer and a highly skilled local workforce”.  It 
was added that the top priority was in trying to improve the employment rate for County 
Durham.  The Committee were reminded that the CDEP had no funding of its own, rather it 
acted to help coordinate and foster cooperation between partners, not operate 
programmes of its own.

Page 4



Councillors noted that in order to help judge levels of success, five measures were looked 
at: employment rate; gross value added (GVA); number of businesses; household 
disposable income; and employment deprived index deprivation.

The Chairman, CDEP noted it was important to note that the targets set out were for 2030, 
and that while there was progress in four out of five of the measures, GVA had lost ground, 
though the number of Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs), those areas in the top 20% of 
employment deprived areas, was reducing.  It was noted that while there was a general 
positive picture there was a deeper issue in terms of the employment rate, being better 
than the regional average, however, substantially less than the national average with the 
gap not closing.  Members were referred to a graph showing the relative changes in 
employment rate over the period 2004 to 2017.

Councillors noted that GVA was a measure of the value added by the processes, products 
and services provided in County Durham, a measure of our productivity.  Members noted a 
graph showing that there was a widening gap between the County Durham GVA and that 
of the North East and the rest of the United Kingdom.  Members were reminded of an aim 
of the North East Local Enterprise Partnership (NELEP) to provide “more and better jobs” 
and noted that while “more” jobs was easy to quantify, “better” was more difficult.  The 
Chairman, CDEP noted figures in terms of the GVA per filled job and Members were 
referred to a further graph showing this trend over time from 2002 to 2016, with the target 
for 2020 also shown.  It was highlighted that this showed that there were better jobs being 
created and it was noted that the GVA per filled job in County Durham was roughly the 
same as the region, although the gap to the United Kingdom figure remained.  

The Chairman, CDEP noted that productivity was a national challenge.  He referred to a 
map of County Durham highlighting the areas of deprivation, and explained that it was not 
simply a matter of geography, with some of the most deprived areas sitting alongside the 
largest areas of development, for example Aycliffe, a deprived area sitting next to the 
largest industrial park in England.  Members noted that place investment was not simple 
and that there were many factors including skills, infrastructure and transport.  The 
Chairman, CDEP noted that the County had very good north/south transport links with the 
A1(M) and A19, though the links east/west were not so good.

The Committee noted that a partnership approach was undertaken in terms of “more and 
better jobs”, with this being the NELEP’s strategic economic plan.  It was noted that this 
followed an investment approach, with place based regeneration, human capital and 
business growth.  It was added that through the CDEP there was: work in terms of 
understanding and tackling barriers to investment; response to change and effective 
collaboration; and promotion of Durham as an area to do business - “playing to our 
strengths”.

Members were given several examples of placed based regeneration and growth such as: 
the County Durham Plan, NETPark, Forrest Park, Aykley Heads Strategic Employment 
Site; Auckland Castle and Horden Rail Station.  Councillors noted in respect of business 
investment and growth there were opportunities via: Durham Business Opportunities 
Programme (DBOP) – European Regional Development Fund (ERDF); Enterprise Support 
in the North East (ERDF); North East Access to Finance (ERDF); Durham Finance; and the 
Business Energy Efficiency Project (BEEP). 
  

Page 5



The Chairman, CDEP explained that in terms of Human Capital, there were several 
examples such as: the Youth Employment Initiative Scheme, DurhamWorks - European 
Social Fund (ESF); Skills Support for the Unemployed (ESF); and Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) Support (ESF).

The Committee noted that there were challenges ahead, including Brexit and devolution.  
The Chairman, CDEP explained that Government had stated that funding would be made 
available after Brexit via a Shared Prosperity Fund.  He added that it was hoped that it 
would be comparable in terms of previous EU funding, however, it was not known if this 
would be the case or how the funding would be distributed across the country in terms of 
need or opportunity, noting currently County Durham has special status as a Transition 
Region in terms of EU funding.  Members were reminded that the Vice-Chair of the CDEP, 
Sue Parkinson was on the committee looking at these issues, providing a strong voice for 
County Durham.

The Chairman, CDEP noted in respect of devolution that the 3 “North of Tyne” Local 
Authorities were going ahead with devolution and added that there would be a need to 
ensure that County Durham was not left behind should an equivalent “South of Tyne” 
package develop.

The Chairman, CDEP concluded by reiterating that the CDEP was: working together with 
partners to add value; coordinating what we were doing in County Durham; and informing 
partners of opportunities.

The Chairman thanked the Chairman, CDEP for his update and asked Members for their 
questions and comments.

Councillor E Adam asked in relation to Brexit and funding, whether there had been any risk 
strategy in terms of not getting comparable funding to the EU funding we currently receive, 
especially as the plan was based on investment through to 2030.  The Chairman, CDEP 
noted he did not think there was a risk of receiving no funding, however, the amount was 
the important issue, looking at examples such as Finance Durham, our own local 
investment fund.  He added that the strategy was to try and influence policy before it was 
made, the work of the Vice-Chair, CDEP being very important in terms of this and greatly 
appreciated on behalf of the County.  Members noted that a definitive course of actions 
would only become apparent once the rules in terms of funding were known.

Councillor J Atkinson noted the measures of success and asked why some of the data 
used was from 2015.  The Chairman, CDEP noted that this was the most up-to-date data, 
noting there was an issue in terms of data-lag.  Councillor J Atkinson asked in terms of 
what salary qualified as a “high value job”.  The Chairman, CDEP noted that the absolute 
value of a job was not looked at in terms of salary and added that instead GVA was used, 
however, this did not represent the money within the economy.  Councillor J Atkinson 
added he did not believe the amount of funding from Government would be comparable to 
the EU funding received currently.  The Chairman, CDEP reiterated that there was not 
much clarity on this issue at this time and added the Shared Prosperity Fund that was in 
discussion would appear after Brexit, for those agreed programme beyond March 2019, 
however, what would happen next and beyond this was unknown.  

Page 6



Councillor L Maddison asked if he felt that this would create somewhat of a vacuum.  The 
Chairman, CDEP noted that this was the danger citing examples in terms of programmes.

Councillor P Jopling noted that a high wage economy depended upon skills with the issue 
being how to deliver the right skills in County Durham, and asked if there was balance in 
terms skills and jobs.  
The Chairman, CDEP noted that it was an element of both, noting that one area that was 
very good in County Durham was apprenticeships.  He added that the Apprenticeship Levy 
was proving to be an issue for Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs) and that also 
there was a need to encourage post 16-18 level technical qualifications.  He added there 
were a number of success stories in out County, especially in terms of engineering and that 
these needed to be highlighted more.  Members noted that a general comment from 
employers at a recent local “Brexit meeting” was not that there was a lack of specific skills, 
rather more young people were not “employment ready”, in terms of attitudes and their 
aspirations.

Councillor P Jopling asked as regards devolution, and the potential for County Durham to 
be left behind, and whether the Chairman, CDEP saw any positives.  The Chairman, CDEP 
noted that this was a political question for elected representatives, and reiterated that it 
was an important decision to make.  

Councillor R Ormerod noted the Brexit decision and asked if the idea of tariff free “free 
ports” had been mooted as an idea for County Durham and the North East.  The Chairman, 
CDEP noted this had not been discussed and added he would ensure this was put into the 
mix.  Councillor P Howell endorsed the idea of free ports for our area and added that GVA 
was misunderstood at the best of times noting it did not include the value of service sector 
jobs of which there were a great many in the County.  The Chairman, CDEP confirmed that 
GVA did not include the service sector and added that for example the University would not 
have a very good GVA, however, it was very important in terms of the County.  He noted 
that GVA was simply the best measure we had, despite the County having a strong service 
sector, and that this was why there were a range of measures, including GVA.  Councillor 
P Howell noted that the Aykley Heads developments were very much back-loaded in terms 
of the numbers of jobs to be delivered.

Councillor S Dunn explained that he had noted the number of EU funded programmes and 
of need versus opportunity, and asked in worst case scenario if all the EU funding was 
effectively “lost” how much would County Durham lose.  The Partnerships Team Leader, 
Tarryn Lloyd Payne noted Transition Region funding was around €147 Million over 5 years, 
and the Chairman, CDEP added that figure of around £1/4 Billion was one to think of.

Mrs R Morris noted the challenges as described and asked as regards the “Northern 
Powerhouse” as a strategy, with the County Durham being very much lesser a 
consideration than Manchester, Leeds or Liverpool.  The Chairman, CDEP noted that as 
structured it did not favour County Durham, as we were beyond what it considered “north”.  
He did note that there was a push in all communications in this regards High Speed Rail II 
(HSII) joining to the North East and to be part of the Northern Powerhouse infrastructure 
plans.  Mrs R Morris asked as regards the Northern Powerhouse and public/private 
partnerships, and more in general in terms of this as a way of funding in the future.  The 
Chairman, CDEP noted that Members would be aware that EU funding requires match 
funding and that this element would be similar in terms of private sector investment.

Page 7



Resolved:

That the report and presentation by the CDEP be received and comments made by 
Members be noted and reflected in the consideration of the Committee’s 2018/19 Work 
Programme.

8 DurhamWorks Programme - Progress 

The Chairman introduced the Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning, Linda Bailey 
and the External Programme Manager, Helen Radcliffe who were in attendance to provide 
the Committee with an update on progress in relation to the DurhamWorks Programme (for 
copy see file of minutes).

The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning reminded Members of the target for the 
number of young people aged 16-24 to be engaged through DurhamWorks by July 2018, 
5,830 and referred Members to a presentation slide setting out the verified statistics from 
May 2018.  It was noted that the target would not be reached, with the current number 
being 4,606.  Members were reminded that initially the programme was intended to be for 4 
years, however, due to funding delays the actual time available to deliver the programme 
had been 2 years 3 months.  It was noted that part of the strategy was to reach out into 
rural areas, however, this would be looked at again as the commissioned services in this 
area had not proved to be successful.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning 
referred the Committee to a map setting out the hotspots in terms of those Not in 
Employment, Education and Training (NEET).

Councillors were reminded that the DurhamWorks model was such that the young people 
were followed through their journey, noting some individuals may require a light touch and 
some may require more intensive work.  Members noted statistics in terms of those 4,606 
young people engaged with: during the month of May 2018, those in EET – 994; those in 
activity with a delivery partner – 335; those with one-to-one wrap around support only – 
1,738; those that had completed – 1,361; and those that left the programme, non-
completed – 176.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning noted a breakdown of 
participants by age and gender, and also of the progressions by sector, noting the majority 
being Full-time employment, apprenticeships, Further Education and Part-time 
employment.

Members noted the position in relation to the number of NEETs, with it being explained that 
the position had stabilised and not fluctuated while DurhamWorks had been in place.  It 
was added that further analysis would take place during the evaluation process for the 
Programme.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning noted comparative data in 
terms of NEETs and “not knowns” noting County Durham was similar to the regional 
average, better than statistical neighbours, however, below the national average.  It was 
explained that employment had risen for 16-18 year olds in the period 2014 – 2018.

The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning noted in relation to vulnerable groups in 
the 16-18 age range, around a third had a self-declared mental health issue, and noted that 
staff had been developed in order to understand those issues.  

Page 8



It was noted that there had been good successes in terms of the number of care leavers, 
those with special education needs and disabilities (SEND) and those engaged with the 
Youth Offending Service (YOS) progressing into EET.

The Committee were referred to a graph setting out youth unemployment figures, with the 
Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning noting some frustration in terms of the data 
in terms of a 10% confidence interval and fluctuations since the introduction of Universal 
Credit.  It was added that this issue was an area of work being looked at by the Data 
Service in the Council.

The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning noted in terms of financial performance, 
the DurhamWorks Programme had a cumulative expenditure of £11.003 million to the end 
of March 2018.  It was noted there was a projected underspend of £2.88 million if the 
Programme ended in July 2018, with reasons including: delayed start to the programme; 
underspend by some Delivery Partners; and delays in receiving approval for project 
change requests.

In relation to the evaluation of the Programme, it was noted that it had been found that 
there was evidence that the model of sustained wraparound support was resulting in 
positive progressions and that collaborative working between Delivery Partners was 
improving.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning added that the targeted 
support for young people in vulnerable groups was proving to be very successful.  It was 
explained that a cost benefit analysis was being undertaken, through the Social Return on 
Investment (SORI) model which had 3 strands: fiscal; economic and social.

Members noted that in terms of the future of DurhamWorks, it was felt the brand was 
valuable and would be retained and built upon.  It was explained that there was an ESF 
Investment Priority 1.2 fund which had been bid for, which would support 5,129 15-24 year 
olds who are NEET or at risk of becoming NEET, with £7.98 million of funding, of which 
£4.79 million was ESF and £3.19 million to be match funding.  In relation to an extension of 
the Youth Employment Initiative (YEI) funding, there was a potential to look to support 
4,100 15-24 year olds who are NEET, in addition to the 1,000 shortfall from the current 
Programme.  It was noted this potential fund was £12 million, with £9.0 million being ESF 
and £3.0 million being match funding.

The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning concluded by noting the successes of 
the DurhamWorks participants, with an Achievement Awards Ceremony in May 2018, and 
referred to photographs of the Portfolio Holder, Councillor O Gunn, presenting young 
people with awards for their hard work.

The Chairman thanked the Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning and asked 
Members of the Committee for their questions and comments.

Councillor M Clarke asked whether the underspend could be utilised to extend the 
programme for a longer period.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning noted 
that payment was only made if the spend was evidenced and therefore it would not be 
possible in this programme.  She added that as part of the funding request in terms of the 
extension to the current YEI programme, we had asked that, if successful, the £2.88 million 
underspend was used first, prior to the £12 million from the new programme.  

Page 9



The External Programme Manager noted that a request had been made for an additional 3 
years, up to July 2021, to complete the programme.

Councillor E Scott asked as regards the NEETs figures and who was supported.  The 
Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning explained that over 5,100, 16-24 year olds 
were unemployed, however, NEETs referred to those aged 16-18 years old.  
The External Programme Manager noted there had been engagement with 4,606 young 
people in the 2 years 3 months from the Programme starting, adding now there were staff  
structures and partnerships in place which would create a strong platform from which to 
work however the timescale was still challenging.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and 
Learning noted that each year there were approximately 2000 “new” NEETs, illustrating the 
‘churn’ in the cohort with between 900-1000 young people being NEET at any one time.  
The External Programme Manager explained that many of the young people aged 18-24 
had become fatigued in relation to employability training and therefore activities offered in 
DurhamWorks were looking to focus more on jobs, rather than CV building.

Councillor J Atkinson noted that at the previous item, the Chairman, CDEP had mentioned 
the need for engineers/apprenticeships when speaking about skills and the feedback from 
employers had been that young peoples’ attitudes towards work was very important.  He 
added that through STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) work he 
had been involved in he felt that the attitudes of children could be best influenced at the 
Primary School age rather than when they were older.  The Strategic Manager, 
Progression and Learning noted that the DurhamWorks Programme did not engage with 
that younger age group, and noted in the past there was some Council work in relation to 
that age group.  She added that from her experience a lot of young people aged 16-24 
were thinking about their futures, and careers in those sectors.  She noted that many did 
not achieve 5 GCSEs at A-C and added that should the ESF 1.2 bid be successful, there 
could be scope to engage with younger children, however, this was not possible with the 
YEI programme.

Councillor E Adam noted percentages in respect of vulnerable NEETs and asked what 
numbers that represented and also if there would be some analysis of the Delivery 
Partners underspend, to be better informed moving forward should the other bids be 
successful and work continued through to 2021.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and 
Learning noted that DurhamWorks had been “paid in line with actual expenditure” and 
those Delivery Partners that had proven they could deliver would be those we would move 
forward with.  It was added that the use of sub-contracts would help in terms of flexibility.  
Councillor E Adam asked as regards why sub-contracts were used, the Strategic Manager, 
Progression and Learning and confirmed that they are required to match fund, whereas 
sub-contractors were paid on outputs.  The External Programme Manager noted figures in 
relation to vulnerable groups and agreed that the information would be circulated to 
Members, Councillor E Adam noted the good work and agreed that the focus on those 
groups was correct.

Councillor D Hall noted that he thought that DurhamWorks was an excellent programme, 
and asked if there were any lessons that could be applied to cross-cutting issues and 
projects in other services, in order to reach young people prior to any contact with 
DurhamWorks.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and Learning reminded Members that 
it was known that mental health problems were exacerbated by long term unemployment 
and noted that more work within schools would likely help in the longer term.  

Page 10



She noted that having a financial boost to undertake such works at that age was difficult, 
though the excellent work of one delivery partner SHAID (Single Homeless Action Initiative 
in Durham) was noted.  It was added that in the wider work of the Local Authority, partners 
now tended to work in multi-agency teams, for example Team Around the Family, and any 
lessons from the Programme evaluation would be taken forward as appropriate.  The 
External Programme Manager noted that she felt the DurhamWorks Programme had also 
helped the Council in terms of internal partnership working.

Councillor P Jopling noted the information as regards young people and “programme 
fatigue” and asked whether they dropped out of the programme entirely or whether there 
was a process whereby we could go back and re-engage.  The Strategic Manager, 
Progression and Learning noted that of those engaged with, around 1,700 received one-to-
one support and therefore they were still receiving help.  
It was added that of the 170 or so that had failed to complete their programme, it was not 
likely that they would re-engage, however, it was hoped that through the work and 
interventions of other professionals they could be engaged with.  The Strategic Manager, 
Progression and Learning suggested that the final evaluation report  was circulated to the 
Members of the Committee.

Mrs R Morris noted that the report set out as regards some financial help young people 
received in order to get into work and asked what form it took and how this assistance 
scheme was advertised.  The External Programme Manager noted that there were wrap 
around support staff and that the flexible fund could be used for clothing, bus passes, taxis, 
and even to provide a month’s “wage” if a young person had not received their wage.  It 
was noted that it was a sign of the levels of deprivation that in some cases the fund had 
been used to buy young people suitable work shoes.  It was added that some young 
people were able to access “Wheels for Work”, and it was highlighted that that YEI funding 
could not be used for capital purchases.  The External Programme Manager noted that the 
flexible fund was not a general fund, it was only accessible by young people within 
DurhamWorks and was therefore not advertised outside of the programme.  Mrs R Morris 
noted that advertising of the scheme to young people may be a way of encouraging young 
people to engage with the Programme, if they could see how the fund could be used to 
remove some of the barriers they may be facing.  The Strategic Manager, Progression and 
Learning noted that a case study may be beneficial in this instance.

Councillor L Maddison reiterated that the Chairman, CDEP had noted that in general young 
people had specific skills, however, some employers had felt that many were not 
“employment ready”.  She asked if there was any work that was undertaken with employers 
themselves in order to understand and address the issue.  The Strategic Manager, 
Progression and Learning noted that should funding bids be successful work experience 
elements could be built into the future DurhamWorks programme.  It was added that there 
may be the opportunities to provide help and guidance for employers and also to use more 
examples to demonstrate to young people the benefits of engagement.  The External 
Programme Manager added that while job and apprenticeship opportunities were being 
created, it was important to help young people be ready to be able to take up those 
opportunities. 

Resolved:

(i) That the report be noted.

Page 11



(ii) That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive a 
further progress report on the future of DurhamWorks as part of the 2019/20 work 
programme.

9 Quarter 4, 2017/18 Performance Management Report 

The Chairman thanked the Strategy Team Leader, Gemma Wilkinson who was in 
attendance to speak to Members in relation to the Quarter 4, 2017/18 Performance 
Management Report (for copy see file of minutes).
 

The Strategy Team Leader reminded Members of the different types of indicators reported, 
Tracker indicators and Target indicators and the performance reporting arrangements for 
2017/18 would be via a number of key performance questions (KPQs), aligned to the 
“Altogether” framework of six priority themes.
 
Councillors were referred to the “dashboard” page within the report setting out the key 
figures in Quarter 4 which included the employment rate for the working age population 
being above the regional average, though below the national average.  It was added that 
the number of young people ages 18-24 claiming Job Seekers Allowance or Universal 
Credit was below the regional level, however, was above the national average.  The 
Strategy Team Leader noted in terms of apprenticeships, the percentage of 16-17 year 
olds in apprenticeships was above the regional and national averages.

The Committee noted that the number of jobs created or safeguarded through the activity 
of Business Durham was 1,066, below the target of 1,300, however, it was noted that the 
target had been aspirational.  It was also highlighted that the number achieved last year 
had been 2,404, albeit with 1,200 of those coming via ResQ.

The Strategy Team Leader noted the performance in terms of apprenticeships, with 913 
being created through Durham County Council schemes being sustained for 15 months or 
more, at March 2018, equating to 85% of all the apprenticeships starts through those 
schemes.  It was added that the number of registered businesses in County Durham had 
increased, and occupancy rates of retail units in 11 out of 18 centres was at a rate higher 
or in line with the national average.  In terms of housing, it was noted that 198 empty 
properties had been brought back into use through Council intervention, above target and 
more than in the previous year.  Members learned that the net number of new homes 
completed had increase in comparison to the previous year and the number of clients for 
whom homelessness had been prevented had also increase in comparison to the previous 
year. 

The Chairman thanked the Strategy Team Leader and asked Members for their comments 
and questions on the performance report.
 
Councillor E Adam noted the information in terms of NEETs that had been discussed at the 
previous Item relating to DurhamWorks.  He noted however that the figures did not seem to 
improve and asked if there were issues in terms of the reliability of the data.  The Strategy 
Team Leader noted that the best statistics available at this time were those relating to the 
number of people out of work, claiming JobSeekers Allowance or Universal Credit.  

Page 12



It was noted that the DWP were working on a new measure and consultation was ongoing 
in this regard. 

Councillor L Maddison noted the 17,120 businesses within County Durham and asked if 
they were all active and what types of businesses and numbers there were.
The Strategy Team Leader noted this was a national measure that came via the Office for 
National Statistics (ONS) and noted it may be possible to provide a break down by size of 
business.  She suggested that information within the occupancy surveys carried out by the 
Council would have more information in relation to retail businesses.  Councillor L 
Maddison noted she would also be interested in technology and service industry 
businesses in addition to retail businesses.  

Councillor J Atkinson noted Barnard Castle and Ferryhill had high occupancy rates and 
asked why this was, and how could lessons be learned from these different town centres.  
The Strategy Team Leader noted she would speak to colleagues and provide feedback.

Councillor P Howell asked as regards the percentages in terms of young people 18-24 
claiming Universal Credit and those in apprenticeships.  The Strategy Team Leader noted 
that the figures provided at the previous item referred to those aged 16-24 and added that 
there was also issue in terms of data lag.  Councillor P Howell noted his frustration in terms 
of data and noted that information was only useful if accurate and timely.

Councillor S Dunn noted the figures in terms of youth employment and asked if there was 
additional information in terms of: how many people were NEET; how many were in 
apprenticeships; how many were in employment; and how many were in education.  He 
added that it would be useful to have both numbers and the percentages, as well as 
information in terms of how many apprentices then move into jobs, and the number of 
Council apprentices that moved into jobs with the Authority.  The Strategy Team Leader 
noted she did not have the information to hand and would look into the matter.  She added 
that in terms of apprenticeships, there was those through the Council’s Apprenticeship 
Scheme, working with local providers and there was also those internal Council 
apprentices.  The Chairman noted that the Committee’s review of Apprenticeship was due 
to come back to Members for an update.  Councillor S Dunn asked how apprenticeships 
operated, in terms of whether young people progressed through to employment or were 
young people “parked” in apprenticeships.  The Chairman added that there was 
sustainability in terms of moving beyond 2 years and progression into a job, noting that 
figures as regards this had recently been reported to Cabinet.

Mrs R Morris asked if there was information in terms of occupancy rates and business 
rates, as she noted that business rates could vary and could be very high.  She added that 
high business rates could be sufficient to prevent a new small and micro business from 
getting on to the “first rung of the ladder”.  The Strategy Team Leader noted she would 
speak to colleagues as regards this matter.  Councillor A Patterson noted she had 
information in terms business rates schemes and would speak to Mrs R Morris after the 
meeting as regards this. 
  
 Resolved:
 
That the report be noted.

Page 13



10 Refresh of the Work Programme 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer referred Members to the report in the agenda papers 
relating to the Review of the Committee’s Work Programme for 2018-19 (for copy see file 
of minutes).

Members noted the report set out the work programme for the year ahead and Councillors 
were reminded of the need to include some ability to look at any emerging issues within the 
year.  

The Committee noted that Appendix 2 set out the work programme and priorities and noted 
topics to be monitored include: EU Funding; DurhamWorks; Digital Durham; Private 
Housing; Visit County Durham; Business Durham; refresh of the Masterplans; and 
transport locally and regionally.  Members noted that reviews of the progress against the 
recommendations from previous work on Skills Development and the Support for the Retail 
Sector Review, once completed, would be built into the Work Programme.  It was added 
that new issues for 2017/18 had included: empty properties project; the Homelessness 
Reduction Act and the impact for County Durham; the funding rationale in terms of major 
investments; and overview of the work of the NELEP.  

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer noted there were proposed special meetings of the 
Committee to look at topics including: the County Durham Plan, Private Sector Housing 
and Transport.

The Chairman noted that normally Members would look at a potential focused piece of 
work, however, it was suggested that with a great deal or work to be undertaken by the 
Committee, and the topics of the County Durham Plan and Brexit falling under the remit of 
Economy and Enterprise, that the Committee did not take on a focused piece of work.

Councillor E Adam noted that Brexit was not until March 2019, the Chairman noted that 
there was the Support for the Retail Sector Working Group to be concluded within the new 
cycle, as well as the CDP element and several additional Special Meetings as described by 
the Overview and Scrutiny Officer.  She therefore asked Committee Members to raise their 
hands if they agreed in terms of no focused piece of work being undertaken during the 
current municipal year.  This was agreed.

Councillor D Hall added that he felt that the topic of Brexit would simply entail a number of 
updates on the position, rather than feeding into any process and that he felt that a light 
touch review on some topic may have been preferable, such that there was a “product” at 
the end of the year.  The Chairman noted that there was already heavy commitment in 
terms of Member time in the items as set out within the work programme, including the 
additional Special Meetings and workshop sessions and any focused piece of work would 
impact even further on the Members of the Committee.

Councillor R Ormerod noted the inclusion of workshop sessions on the County Durham 
Plan and noted while he understood the rationale as regards session in July 2018, he 
asked as regards a session to take place in February 2019.  Councillor E Adam noted the 
link to the Government’s Industrial Strategy and if there would be reports back to 
Committee in terms of Council business parks.  

Page 14



The Overview and Scrutiny Officer noted that when Business Durham attend Committee 
they would provide feedback on this and there would be links to key milestones in terms of 
the Strategy White Paper, at the meeting in January 2019.

Resolved:
 
That the Work Programme at Appendix 2 to the report be agreed.

11 Minutes from the County Durham Economic Partnership 

The Minutes of the meeting of the County Durham Economic Partnership held 24 April 
2018 were received by the Committee for information. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

25 September 2018 

Tackling Empty Properties – 
Joint Working protocol 

Joint Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships and Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services

Purpose of the Report
1. To provide Members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee with details of the ‘Tackling Empty Properties’ joint working protocol 
presentation by Joanne Waller, Head of Environment , Health and Consumer 
Protection. 

Background
2. Members will recall that at the meeting of the Economy and Enterprise OSC 

held in February 2018 mention was made of a new ‘Tackling Empty Properties’ 
joint working protocol, using a multi-agency approach to deal with the issues 
resulting from empty properties.  It was suggested that officers be invited to a 
future meeting of the committee to provide an overview of the approach taken 
and then subsequently to a further meeting to provide a progress update.

3. The work programme for the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 
committee was agreed at the meeting on the 26 June 2018 and scheduled 
within that work programme is an overview of the ‘Tackling Empty Properties’ 
joint working protocol to be presented to the committee at the September 
meeting and an update on the progress of the approach to come to a special 
meeting of the committee on the 9 March 2019.

4. Arrangements have been made for Joanne Waller, Head of Environment, 
Health and Consumer Protection, Regeneration and Local Services to deliver 
a presentation focusing on:

 Understanding the problem with empty properties

 The regulatory framework and our enforcement approaches. 

 Key roles and responsibilities of each partner organisation;

 Information and intelligence exchange

 Our empty property intervention strategy.    

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Recommendations

5. Members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
are asked to note and comment upon the information provided in the report and 
the presentation.

6. That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee receives 
a further progress update on the ‘Tackling Empty Properties’ joint working 
protocol at the special meeting of the committee planned for the 9 March 2019.

Contact: 03000 260 923
Author: Joanne Waller, Head of Environment, Heath and Consumer 

Protection 

Page 18



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A

Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – N/A

Accommodation – N/A

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – N/A

Procurement – N/A

Disability Issues – N/A

Legal Implications – N/A

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

25 September 2018

Business Durham 

Joint Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships and Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services

Purpose of the Report

1 To provide members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with background detail on Business Durham prior to a presentation 
by Sarah Slaven, Operations Director, Business Durham highlighting the work 
and impact of Business Durham in County Durham.

Background 

2 The Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee receives on an 
annual basis an update on the work of Business Durham identifying the various 
activity undertaken and the impact of that activity on the county.

3 The last update was provided to the committee at the meeting held on 29 June 
2017 where it was agreed that a further update would be included in the future 
work programme of the committee for 2018/19.

4 Arrangements have been made for Sarah Slaven, Operations Director, 
Business Durham to attend the meeting of the committee scheduled for 25 
September 2018, on behalf of Brian Archer, Managing Director, and deliver a 
presentation providing background in relation to Business Durham together with 
detail of work undertaken and the impact of Business Durham in County 
Durham during the last year.  The presentation on 25 September 2018 will 
focus on the following:

(a) Business Durham’s updated mission, vision and strategic aims
(b) 2017/18 performance and recent highlights of Business Durham’s work 
(c) Challenges and opportunities facing businesses in County Durham

Business Durham 

5 Business Durham, the economic development organisation for County 
Durham, has recently reviewed and updated its mission, vision and strategic 
aims, as follows:

Mission
To enable growth, create jobs and improve lives in County Durham.

Vision
Business Durham will have a reputation for delivering measurable and 
inclusive economic growth.

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



Strategic Aims
1. Build a profile and reputation for County Durham as the best place to 

invest, start or grow a business
2. Improve our financial resilience and surplus
3. Deliver measurable economic growth and account for our performance to 

our stakeholders
4. Transform our internal systems and processes to become a robust and 

agile organisation with a reputation for quality
5. Be an employer of choice attracting and retaining the very best people

6 Business Durham operates the Council’s industrial and business property 
portfolio via a commercial model, both to attract and grow tenant companies but 
also to use any surplus to pay for Business Durham’s public good activities in 
business engagement, innovation, sector development, strategy development, 
inward investment, and enterprise.

7 Business Durham continues to focus on sectors where activities will have the 
most economic impact.  These sectors (effectively, non-retail and non-leisure) 
account for approximately 9,500 businesses (VAT/PAYE registered) in County 
Durham.

8 To advise, inform and support its work, Business Durham benefits from an 
Advisory Board, supported by Members and private sector board members 
representing a range of business sectors in the County.

9 In order to deliver its updated mission, vision and strategic aims, Business 
Durham has recently completed a restructure of the service, to achieve the 
following operational objectives::

 improve customer focus and clarity of the offer to businesses by 
combining business engagement staff and operations; 

 increase the profile of Business Durham by providing additional marketing 
capacity; 

 improve operational efficiency by simplifying business processes and 
systems; and

 help businesses innovate and deliver measurable and inclusive economic 
growth.

10 Operationally, Business Durham’s three new teams are:

a) Property and Business Services: has responsibility for coordination of 
internal business systems, processes and administration, as well the 
marketing, letting, management and development of the Business 
Durham business property portfolio across the County, consisting of 481 
individual lettable units, totalling 50,938 m2, across 24 different locations.  
The range of properties includes Salvus House offices at Aykley Heads; 
managed business centres at Consett, Tanfield Lea, Crook and Shildon; 
factories across fifteen industrial estates; NETPark, and the Durham 
Dales Centre at Stanhope.  The Team is based across five locations: 
NETPark, Consett, Tanfield Lea, Stanhope, and Durham City.

 

Page 22



b) Operations: has responsibility for inward investment and aftercare 
services, business engagement and account management, as well as 
enterprise promotion and business start-up support.  The team takes the 
lead on engaging with businesses through an area-based and sectoral 
approach and works closely with partners such as the enterprise 
agencies, County Durham Engineering and Manufacturing Network, the 
LEP, regional business support organisations, and local, national, and 
international business networks.  The team also leads on enterprise 
animation activities, the flagship Future Business Magnates (FBM) 
schools competition, and Durham City Incubator

c) Innovation and Marketing: has responsibility for horizon scanning for 
threats and opportunities to business from global trends, emerging 
technologies, societal challenges, local market intelligence, and local, 
national and international policy; creating sector development strategies; 
building high profile strong partnerships, locally, nationally and 
internationally, including innovative companies, government, universities, 
funding bodies, research institutes and centres of excellence, and industry 
associations; and marketing and communications activities to develop 
County Durham’s national reputation for excellence in supporting 
business growth. 

Performance Summary and Highlights

11 2017/18 was another successful year for Business Durham, with the majority of 
targets being met or exceeded.  Business Durham produced a short Annual 
Review document summarising the highlights of the year, which is attached as 
Appendix 2.

12 There were a number of significant developments at NETPark during the year, 
with the completion and official opening of the £7.5M Explorer buildings, 
providing grow on space for businesses, as well as completion of the road 
infrastructure to open up the 26 acre development plot for NETPark Phase 3.  
In addition, £3.5M was invested into Salvus House to create co-working space, 
and the Durham City Incubator.

13 To continue Business Durham’s work on innovation, three years’ further funding 
was secured for the North East Centre of Excellence for Satellite Applications.  
Business Durham was also instrumental in the County Council preparing a 
successful bid to the Government’s GovTech Fund, which encourages small, 
emerging technology businesses, partnering with the public sector, to create 
and develop innovative solutions to public services, that once proven can scale 
both to the advantage of markets and society. Durham County Council working 
with Blaenau Gwent Borough Council, have secured £1.25M to support firms to 
develop solutions which focus on how real-time data routinely captured by 
residents and vehicles can be used to improve public service delivery – such as 
recycling, litter collection and street repair – while reducing costs.

Page 23



14 The Finance Durham Fund has invested £2.19M into 7 businesses since its 
launch in May 2017, generating £3.24M private sector leverage and supporting 
the creation of a predicted 193 jobs.  In addition, over 100 companies have 
benefitted from attending Venture Investment Clinics as part of the access to 
finance programme to help businesses become ‘investor ready’.  Regrettably 
one of the companies that received investment from the Fund has gone into 
involuntary liquidation, and a litigation process is underway to secure maximum 
recovery for the Fund.  

15 The Digital Drive Durham ERDF programme was launched in January 2018, 
and more than 200 companies have received 12 hours of fully funded support 
through the programme so far, to help them become more resilient, efficient 
and profitable by using digital technology to gain a competitive edge and 
maximise growth.  The programme also offers a grant towards the cost of 
businesses implementing new digital technology and equipment within their 
business, and over 35 businesses have had grant offers approved to date.  

16 The ERDF-funded Durham Business Opportunities Programme (DBOP) 
provided intensive assistance to 51 businesses during its first year, in order to 
help them take advantage of market opportunities.  This included businesses in 
the childcare sector, and small engineering/manufacturing firms that exhibited 
in the first incubator zone at Durham Oktoberfest, a number of which went on to 
receive work from contacts made at the event.  Two further strands of support 
are now underway for businesses in the creative sector, and food and drink 
sector businesses.

Looking forward

17 Commercial challenges facing Business Durham include to profitably grow the 
property portfolio and maximise occupancy levels, to simplify access for 
businesses and continue to change private sector perceptions of the Public 
Sector, to continue to build the Business Durham brand, to develop a 
commercial culture for reinvestment in economic and social good, and to 
respond to Brexit and EU bidding opportunities before they diminish.

18 The impact of Brexit on the County’s economy remains uncertain, until the 
nature of any future arrangements becomes clearer.  Through its day to day 
business engagement work, Business Durham is keeping in touch with 
companies to understand their concerns, potential implications for their 
business or sector, and connecting them to sources of information or 
assistance on specific issues through our contacts in the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy.  Business Durham is working with 
Europe Direct to put on a seminar for businesses on 30th October 2018 on 
implications of Brexit, and also has a dedicated ‘Brexit’ slot in its monthly 
business newsletter. 

Page 24



19 Following the publication of the Government’s Industrial Strategy White Paper 
in November 2017, it was announced in early summer that the North East 
would be one of the first areas of the country to develop a Local Industrial 
Strategy (LIS).  This work is being led by the North East LEP, which is currently 
refreshing the region’s Strategic Economic Plan in order to prepare the ground 
for the Local Industrial Strategy.  It is likely that future Government funding for 
economic growth, in particular the Shared Prosperity Fund, will be aligned to 
the LIS, so it is important that County Durham partners help to shape and 
influence the LIS.  Business Durham is leading the development of an Industrial 
Strategy for County Durham, working closely with Durham University to gather 
a robust and up to date evidence base which will underpin this work.

Recommendations

20 That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee note and 
comment on the contents of the above report and presentation.

21 That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive a 
further report detailing the progress and further development of business 
activity undertaken by Business Durham at a future meeting of the committee 
as part of the 2019/20 work programme.

Appendix 2
Business Durham Review 2017/18

Background papers:
Economy and Enterprise OSC report - Business Durham – progress report – 26 
June, 2017.

Author:

Contact:

Brian Archer, Managing Director, Business Durham
Tel: 03000 265 510
Diane Close, Overview and Scrutiny Oficer
Tel: 03000 268 141
Brian Archer, Managing Director, Business Durham 
Tel:03000 265 510

Page 25

tel:03000


Appendix 1: Implications

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A

Risk – N/A 

 

Equality and Diversity – N/A 

Accommodation – N/A 

Crime and Disorder – N/A 

Human Rights – N/A 

Consultation – N/A 

Procurement – N/A

Disability Discrimination Act – N/A

Legal Implications – N/A 

Page 26



Business Durham is supported by:

Business Durham
Review 2017/18

Business Durham
Millennium Place,
Durham, DH1 1WA.

T: +44 (0) 3000 261 261
E: enquiries@businessdurham.co.uk

       _businessdurham
W: .businessdurham.co.uk

P
age 27



Business Durham is supported by:

Business Durham
Review 2017/18

Jobs Created & Safeguarded
1,000+

900+
Businesses engaged

Inward
investment
successes

12
Business
growth
projects
assisted

140+
People engaged in

enterprise activities

2,500+
“I am delighted to report on
a successful year at Business 
Durham. I have joined the
team at an exciting time: I
believe there’s a wider role

for business to not only generate prosperity but
to change lives by creating new opportunities
and raising aspirations, and Business Durham
is already making that happen.

I look forward to supporting and leading the
team as they continue to find innovative ways
to help businesses in County Durham
thrive and grow.”

Brian Archer,
Managing Director,
Business Durham

P
age 28



Business Durham
Review 2017/18

Business Durham is supported by:

Highlights of the year:
Invested £1.24M in five County Durham businesses
through the £20m Finance Durham fund
 
Awarded the first contracts of the pioneering Durham
Smart County programme using open innovation to
solve longstanding societal challenges
 
Launched Digital Drive County Durham, helping
businesses make the most of digital technology
 
Secured another three years’ funding for the
North East Centre of Excellence for Satellite
Applications and helped businesses win
£4.23M of investment.
 
Launched the Durham Business Opportunities
Programme launched which has intensively
supported 51 businesses in its first year

Welcomed over 58 new tenants into
Business Durham Properties

Increased rental income to over £4M

P
age 29



Business Durham
Review 2017/18

Business Durham is supported by:

Highlights of the year:
 
Invested over £3.5M into Salvus House at
Aykley Heads creating co-working space
and the Durham City Incubator
 
Expanded NETPark with the official opening
of the £7.6M Explorer buildings by Stuart Martin,
CEO of the Satellite Applications Catapult.

Completed NETPark Phase 3 infrastructure,
opening up a 26 acre development plot
 
Celebrated two years of Durham 2sday
monthly networking event and hosted
monthly Innovation Breakfasts
 
Welcomed 19 schools into the 13th Future
Business Magnates competition
 
Hosted the annual Satellite Applications
conference: “Discover the Possibilities”

P
age 30



Business Durham
Review 2017/18

Business Durham is supported by:

Major Company Milestones:
 
Vivarail to set up a facility in Seaham to assemble power
units and wiring looms for its commuter trains

The first intercity express programme trains built at
Hitachi Rail Europe in Newton Aycliffe entered service

II-VI, major US company, invests $80M in a
prestigious semiconductor facility in Newton
Aycliffe to manufacture chips which will
enable sensors, interconnectivity, and
mobility across a range of sectors

Lightweight Containers of Holland to set up
a manufacturing facility for one use beer
kegs in Seaham

Isocom established a manufacturing facility
for hi-tech components for satellites

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Economy and Enterprise 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

25 September 2018

Regeneration and Local Services 
(Regeneration and Economic 
Development) – Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2017/18 

Joint Report of Corporate Director – Regeneration and Local 
Services and Corporate Director - Resources

Purpose of the Report

1. In September 2016 the former Neighbourhoods, and Regeneration and 
Economic Development (RED) service areas combined to form 
Regeneration and Local Services. The former RED service areas report 
to this committee while the former Neighbourhoods service areas report 
to the Environment and Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee.

2. To provide details of the outturn budget position for the former  
Regeneration and Economic Development (RED) service grouping 
highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget.

Background

3. County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2017/18 
at its meeting on 22 February 2017. These budgets have subsequently 
been revised to account for grant additions/reductions, budget transfers 
between service groupings and budget reprofiling between years.  This 
report covers the financial position for the following major accounts 
maintained by this service grouping:

 Revenue Budget- £25.267 million (original £24.143million)
 Capital Programme- £40.668 million (original £38.869 million) 

4. The original service budget has been revised to incorporate a number of 
budget adjustments as follows:

 Transfer from Direct Services (maintenance of structures) +£30,000
 Transfer from Central Finance +£37,000
 Transfer to Transformation and Partnerships – Policy, Planning and 

Performance Unitisation -£713,000 
 Use of Inspire Reserve  +£742,000
 Use of strategic reserves for redundancies for MTFP savings +£755,000
 Transfer to Insurance Reserve -£109,000
 Use of Cash Limits  – Economic Development & Housing +£443,000

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



 Use of Cash Limits  – Transport & Contracted Services +£424,000
 Use of Community Transport Reserve +£42,000
 Use of Standards Reserve +£111,000
 Use of Selective Licensing Reserve +£26,000
 Transfer to Planning Reserve -£55,000
 Transfer to Funding & Programmes Reserve -£90,000
 Transfer to N Pennines AONB Reserve -£974,000
 Use of RED Match Fund Reserve +£83,000
 Transfer to Homeless Reduction Reserve -£140,000
 Use of Economic Employability Reserve +£57,000
 Use of Employment and Skills Reserve +£10,000
 Use of International Relations Reserve +£10,000
 Use of Prevention Fund +£11,000
 Transfer to Housing Solutions Reserve -£125,000
 Transfer to Warm and Healthy Homes Reserve -£21,000
 Use of Welfare Assistance Reserve +£289,000
 Use of Business Durham Programme Reserve +£289,000
 Transfer to Business Growth Fund -£81,000
 Strategic Employment Sites + £148,000
 Netpark Institute -£75,000                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

The revised service budget now stands at £25.267 million.

5. The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the financial 
year 2017/18 and show: -

 The approved annual budget;

 The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s financial 
management system;

 The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn;

 For the revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash limit to 
take into account such items as redundancies met from the strategic 
reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and use of / or 
contributions to earmarked reserves.

Revenue 

6. The service is reporting a cash limit underspend of £1.496 million 
against a revised budget of £25.267 million. This compares with an 
estimated underspend of £0.992 million at Quarter 3 – a difference of 
£0.504 million.

7. The tables below compare the actual expenditure with the budget. The 
first table is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense), and 
the second by Head of Service.

Page 34



Subjective Analysis £’000

Annual 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn Variance

Items 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit

Final 
Variance

    
Employees 28,532 28,819 287 (512) (226)
Premises 5,636 6,297 661 (635) 25
Transport 871 796 (75) 0 (75)
Supplies and Services 8,850 8,180 (670) 343 (327)
Agency and Contracted 19,210 19,219 9 49 58
Transfer Payments 95 0 (95) 0 (95)
Central Costs 10,852 7,032 (3,820) 7,293 3,473
GROSS EXPENDITURE 74,047 70,343 (3,704) 6,538 2,834
Income (47,180) (54,679) (7,499) 3,169 (4,330)
NET EXPENDITURE 26,867 15,664 (11,202) 9,707 (1,496)

Analysis by Head of Service £’000

 Head of Service Grouping
Annual
Budget

Actual 
Outturn Variance

Items 
Outside 

Cash Limit

Final 
Variance

  
Corporate Director         215           213         (2) 3 1
Economic Development & Housing 7,523 4,120 (3,403) 3,388 (15)
Planning & Assets 6,314 9,078 2,764 (3,791) (1,028)
Transport & Contracted 2,549 (326) (2,874) 2,721 (153)
Central Managed Costs 10,266 2,579 (7,687) 7,387 (300)

 NET EXPENDITURE 26,867 15,664 (11,202) 9,707 (1,496)

8. The underspend is a managed position, reflecting the proactive 
management of activity by Heads of Service across Regeneration and 
Local Services to bring spend within the cash limit and to prepare for 
2018/19 MTFP savings requirements. The main reasons accounting for 
the outturn position are as follows:

(a) Economic Development and Housing was underspent by £0.015 
million.  There were combined underspends of approximately 
£0.462 million for Housing Solutions, Business Durham and Visit 
County Durham due to net savings on staff and supplies 
expenditure, as well as increased income. These savings were 
offset by an overspend of £78,000 in Physical Development due to 
additional project management and professional fees incurred as 
a result of work undertaken relating to Bishop Auckland Town 
Centre and Durham City promotions. 

A further over spend of £0.369 million was attributable to the 
Employment & Skills and Employability teams not receiving 
sufficient contract income in year to offset their gross expenditure. 
This was due to delays in the award of contracts by external 
funding bodies, which made it necessary for Economic 
Development and Housing to support the continued work of these 
essential service teams from within its overall service budget until 
future funding was secured. These teams are expected to perform 
within budget in the coming financial year. 

Page 35



(b) Planning and Assets was £1.028 million underspent.  This was the 
result of increased planning fee income (£0.481 million), increased 
income from the asset disposal programme (£0.160 million), 
increased income and reduced repair costs at the renewable 
energy centre (£0.154 million) and savings from vacant posts and 
supplies (£0.233 million). 

(c) Transport & Contracted Services was £0.153 million underspent.  
This was mainly due to an underspend on bus and rail contracts 
(£0.202 million) and increased car park income in Durham City 
(£0.218 million), partially offset by increased traffic management 
expenses (£0.240 million).

 Centrally Managed Costs was £0.300 million underspent 
principally due to MTFP savings made early.

9. Appendix 2 provides a more detailed breakdown of variations across the 
service area contained within the revenue budget.

10. The final outturn position of £1.496 million underspend will be carried 
forward under the ‘cash limit’ regime and utilised to support service 
priorities. It should also be noted that the MTFP savings target for the 
former RED service in 2017/18 of £0.889 million was delivered.

Capital Programme
11. The capital programme makes a significant contribution to the 

Regeneration ambitions of County Durham

12. The outturn position of the former RED service capital programme 
showed an actual spend of £38.942 million compared to a revised budget 
of £40.668 million. 

13. Summary financial performance for 2017/18 is shown below.

Service Final 
Budget 
2017/18

Final 
Outturn
2017/18

Final 
Outturn 
2017/18     

 £m £m % Spend
Economic Dev & Housing 22.425 20.369 91
Planning & Assets 9.812 9.943 101
Transport & Contracted 8.431 8.630 102
Total 40.668 38.942 96

14. Capital budgets are unlike revenue budgets. A revenue budget is an 
annual budget which is repeated year on year subject to adjustments to 
service requirements. A capital budget on the other hand is generally a 
one-off budget which may run across several financial years. A capital 
“overspend” in one year can therefore simply occur where work which 
was expected to be carried out in a future year, being undertaken and 
paid for earlier than expected.  Year by year positions are less important 
than the cost of the overall scheme as long as scheme managers can 
show the overall scheme is on target to be within budget by the 
completion of the scheme.

Page 36



15. The key areas of spend during the year were Industrial Estates 
(£11.169m), Major Transport Schemes (£6.103m) and Capitalised 
Maintenance (£5.841m). 

16. Appendix 3 provides a more detailed breakdown of spend across the 
major projects contained within the capital programme. Most of the 
capital programme is covered by a small number of significant projects 
which have long lead times, where implementation is over more than one 
financial year, and 2017/18 has seen significant progress made for a 
number of major schemes.

Recommendations:

17. The Scrutiny Committee is requested to note the contents of this report.

Contact: Philip Curran – Finance Manager                                      
Tel: 03000 261 967

Page 37



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an 
analysis of the revenue and capital outturn position for 2017/18.

Staffing

None.

Risk
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Accommodation

None.

Crime and disorder

None.

Human rights

None.

Consultation

None.

Procurement

None.

Disability Issues

None.

Legal Implications

None.

Page 38



Appendix 2: Revenue Budget 2017-18 

Head of 
Service

Service Area Description (Under) / 
Overbudget

£’000

(Under) / 
Overbudget

£’000
Head of Economic 
Development

Minor underspends on staff and 
supplies budgets.

(13)  

Economic 
Development 
& Housing

Physical 
Development

The overspend in Management and 
Durham City Promotions of £114k was 
largely on project development and 
promotion costs in Supplies and 
Services and was offset by net savings 
of (£36k) from additional recharge 
income and a vacancy saving.

78  

 

Visit County Durham There is an underspend on employee 
costs due to the early implementation 
of the service restructure and the 
MTFP savings.

(30)  

 

Business Durham Business Durham has an overall 
underspend of (£115k). 

Business Space is under budget by 
(£93k). There is an underspend of 
(348) for NETPark due to additional 
rent received in respect of the Institute, 
Incubators, Discovery 2 and other 
units. Business Space South is over 
budget by £229k as a result of the set 
up costs for Salvus House pending the 
property being fully occupied; 
additional VAT costs at the Willington 
sites; and a net underspend at other 
sites due to increased rental yield and 
reduced costs. The Dales Centre is 
over budget by £20k due to increased 
employee costs. Business Space North 
has a net underspend of (£4k) due to 
savings on Premises costs offsetting 
under recovered income, and the 
Management cost centre is overspent 
by £9k due to increased Supplies & 
Services costs.

Business Growth, Development and 
Corporate have a net underspend of 
(£21k) on the Inward Investment 
budget and other miscellaneous minor 
savings against current year budgets. (115)  

 

Economic 
Development

There is an overspend of £280k in 
Employment & Skills largely due to 
delays with the renewal of the service 
contract and hence the under recovery 
of income. The new contract operated 
from early in 2018 but income received 
this financial year was not significant 
and was offset by matching costs. The 
programme has been implemented and 
income will be generated in 2018-19.

There is an overspend of £116k on 
Employability relating to the shortfall in 
match funding for the programme.

 

Page 39



Head of 
Service

Service Area Description (Under) / 
Overbudget

£’000

(Under) / 
Overbudget

£’000

 

 These are offset by underspends of 
(£27k) in Community Economic 
Development, International Relations 
and ED Management largely due to 
miscellaneous savings and over 
achieved income.

369  
Housing Solutions There are net Employee savings and 

over achieved income savings of 
(£149) in Housing Solutions 
Management.

GRT site budgets are underspent by 
(£124k) due to savings on Premises 
and Supplies & Services costs and 
additional income generated.

Housing Initiatives, Activities and 
Improvement are underspent by (£32k) 
due to underspends on Supplies & 
Services and over achieved income.

(305) (15)
Head of SPPAE £6k overspend re PA costs

£6k overspend NE Planning 
Framework
£27k overspend CIPFA Assets / 
Branderry reports
£14k overspend re: staffing
£6k overspend Mentoring/Coaching / 
Printing
£17k overspend Grantfinder software 
(F&P)

76  

Planning and 
Assets 

Spatial Policy £88k overspend on the County 
Durham Plan
(£43k) underspend printing (largely 
printing re: referendums now due in 
18/19 instead)
(£54k) underspend DCLG grant re: 
town plans (no budget)
(£4k) underspend on staff travelling

(13)  

 

Planning 
Development

(£11k) underspend on recovery of 
Dangerous Structures costs
£107k overspend on Planning Appeals, 
mainly Dalton le Dale and Sedgefield
(£85k) underspend on Building Control, 
mainly due to £84k underachieved 
income, (£110k) saving on staffing re 
vacant posts, (£59k) saving on 
supplies due to new ways of working 
(£70k) underspend on Business 
Development Support, mainly on 
staffing re posts not filled, reduced 
hours and 1 post from reserves
(£580k) underspend on Development 
Management, mainly due to (£481k) 
over-achieved income on planning 
fees, (£73k) saving on staffing due to 
vacant posts pending a possible 
restructure, (£26k) saving on supplies 
due to new ways of working

(638)  

Page 40



Head of 
Service

Service Area Description (Under) / 
Overbudget

£’000

(Under) / 
Overbudget

£’000

 

Environment & 
Design 

(£56k) underspend on Sustainability - 
grants re: Rebus/Locarbo expected; 
vacant post, solar maintenance
(£44k) underspend on Design & 
Conservation re staffing and additional 
income
£27k overspend on SOIBUS 
equipment for trees and review of 
parks and gardens
£8k overspend on general supplies 
accross service
£13k overspend 16/17 debtor re 
Sunderland Council for Heritage Coast 
no longer expected (52)  

 

Assets £9k overspend on staffing; vacancies 
during year taking time to be filled, 
offset by 7 posts (including 3 new 
trainee posts)
(£160k) underspend on Asset Disposal 
Programme, due to additional sales
(£75k) underspend re additional 
income from CDHG and Housing 
Solutions not previously forecast
£29k overspend on vacant properties 
where lease ending mid year or 
awaiting disposal, i.e. Newgate Street 
and Brackenhill Peterlee
£72k overspend on vacant properties 
still in our portfolio i.e. Northumbria 
House, Tommy Armstrong Centre, 
Church St Shildon and Beveridge 
Arcade Shops
(£57k) underspend North Road 
Durham and colleagues unsure if HCA 
will reclaim
(£154k) underspend at Freemans 
Reach Energy Centre Phases 1 and 2- 
unrequired budget for repairs on hydro 
plus additional hydro income
£37k overspend on structural surveys
(£55k) underspend on other areas 
across the service, mainly unrequired 
supplies budgets

           (355)
Strategy, Policy, 
Partnerships 
Support

£9k overspend on staffing mainly 
unachieved 3% staff turnover target 
and training costs
£18k overspend on other expenses for 
new project team
(£68k) additional income re: 
secondment to NECA

             (41)
Funding and 
Programmes

£9k overspend on staffing mainly 
unachieved 3% staff turnover target 
and training costs
£18k overspend on other expenses for 
new project team
(£32k) additional income re: Maria 
Antoniou secondment to NECA

               (5) (1,028)
Transport 
and 
Contracted 
Services

Head of Transport 8k Minor variance pending a re-
allocation of savings

8  

Page 41



Head of 
Service

Service Area Description (Under) / 
Overbudget

£’000

(Under) / 
Overbudget

£’000

 

Strategic Transport (67k) Under budget due to vacancy 
savings (£57k)
28k Over budget due to an increase in 
business rates for car parks and bus 
stations
240k Over budget on supplies and 
services mainly due to traffic 
management costs
29k Over budget due to minimum 
wage increases to contractors
(218k) Over achieved on car parking 
income arising from works in Durham 
City

12  

 

Sustainable 
Transport

38k Over budget due to vacancy 
savings not met 
(202k) Under budget on bus and rail 
contracts
(65k) Under budget on other costs 
mainly due to savings on mobile 
devices, IT software and printing.

(229)  

 

Care Connect 194k Over budget on employee costs 
following changes in staff hours and 
rota patterns.
(114k) Under budget on other costs 
mainly due to service efficiencies on 
CCTV and community alarms and 
service contract re-negotiations
(24k) Over budget on income from 
clients, CCTV and recharge income.

56 (153)

Central Central Costs

Underspend of (£217k)  relating to 
MTFP savings made early and reduced 
premises costs. (300) (300)

TOTAL    (1,496)

Page 42



Appendix 3: Capital Programme 2017/18 Outturn Position

 Final Annual 
Budget 2017/18

Final Outturn
 

Scheme  Amount % Spend
 £m £m  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & HOUSING    
Barnard Castle Vision 0.001 0.001 100%
Durhamgate 0.900 0.759 84%
Industrial Estates 11.696 11.169 95%
North Dock Seaham 0.050 0.050 100%
Office Accommodation 0.888 0.829 93%
Town Centres 1.721 1.378 80%
Minor Schemes 0.168 0.168 100%
Disabled Facilities Grant / FAP 3.861 3.881 101%
Gypsy Roma Travellers 0 (0.012)
Housing Renewal 1.130 1.186 105%
Chapter Homes 2.010 0.960 47%
TOTAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & HOUSING 22.425 20.369 91%
   
PLANNING & ASSETS    
Renewable Energy Schemes 0.618 0.605 98%
Structural Capitalised Maintenance 6.469 5.841 90%
Peatland 2.330 0.135 6%
Beamish Capital Project 0 3.113
Minor Schemes 0.395 0.249 63%
TOTAL PLANNING & ASSETS 9.812 9.943 101%

TRANSPORT & CONTRACTED SERVICES
 
Local Transport Plan 2.829 2.521 89%
Transport Corridors 0.000 (0.004)
Transport Major Schemes 5.586 6.103 109%
CCTV 0.010 0.010 100%
Minor Schemes 0.006 0.000 0%
TOTAL TRANSPORT & CONTRACTED SERVICES 8.431 8.630 102%
 
Total 40.668 38.942 96%

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Economy and Enterprise 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

25 September 2018

Regeneration and Local Services 
(Regeneration and Economic 
Development) – Quarter 1: Forecast of 
Revenue and Capital Outturn 2018/19 

Joint Report of Corporate Director – Regeneration and Local 
Services and Corporate Director - Resources

Purpose of the Report

1. In September 2016 the former Neighbourhoods, and Regeneration and 
Economic Development (RED) service areas combined to form 
Regeneration and Local Services. The former RED service areas report 
to this committee while the former Neighbourhoods service areas report 
to the Environment and Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee.

2. To provide details of the forecast outturn budget position for the former 
RED service grouping highlighting major variances in comparison with 
the budget based on the position to the end of June 2018. 

Background

3. County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2018/19 
at its meeting on 21 February 2018. These budgets have subsequently 
been revised to account for grant additions/reductions, budget transfers 
between service groupings and budget reprofiling between years.  This 
report covers the financial position for the following major accounts 
maintained by this service grouping:

 Revenue Budget -  £58.434 million  (original  £55.814 million)
 Capital Programme – £57.516 million (original £56.832 million) 

4. The original service budget has been revised to incorporate a number of 
budget adjustments as follows:

 Use of strategic reserves for redundancies for MTFP savings +£109,000
 Use of Cash Limits  – Economic Development & Housing +£100,000
 Use of Cash Limits  – Transport & Contracted Services +£10,000
 Use of Cash Limits – Planning & Assets +£245,000 
 Use of Selective Licensing Reserve +£59,000
 Use of Planning Reserve +£100,000
 Use of Funding & Programmes Reserve +£23,000
 Use of RED Match Fund Reserve +£141,000
 Use of Economic Employability Reserve +£55,000
 Use of International Relations Reserve +£5,000

Page 45



 Use of Housing Solutions Reserve +£286,000
 Use of Warm and Healthy Homes Reserve +£51,000
 Use of Welfare Assistance Reserve +£208,000
 Use of Business Durham Programme Reserve +£428,000
 Use of Business Growth Fund +£148,000
 Use of Inspire Programme Reserve +£125,000
 Use of Homelessness Reduction Reserve +£189,000
 Use of FIP Reserve +£98,000
 Use of Transport Infrastructure Reserve +£202,000
 Use of Community Transport Reserve +£38,000
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

The revised service budget, adjusted for items outside the cash limit 
(£2.620 million), now stands at £58.434 million.

5. The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the 
financial year 2017/18 and show: -

 The approved annual budget;

 The actual income and expenditure as recorded in the Council’s financial 
management system;

 The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn;

 For the revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash limit to 
take into account such items as redundancies met from the strategic 
reserve, capital charges not controlled by services and use of / or 
contributions to earmarked reserves.

Revenue 

6. The service is reporting a cash limit underspend of £0.395 million 
against a revised budget of £58.434 million adjusted for items outside 
the cash limit. 

7. The tables below compare the actual expenditure with the budget. The 
first table is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense), and 
the second by Head of Service.

Subjective Analysis £’000

£’000

Annual 
Budget

YTD 
Budget

YTD 
Actual

Forecast 
Outturn

Cash 
Limit 

Variance

  
Employees 29,097 12,408 12,160 29,241 144
Premises 6,693 2,508 2,960 6,649 (44)
Transport 827 335 365 803 (24)
Supplies and Services 11,384 3,346 3,887 11,376 (8)
Agency and Contracted 19,431 8,209 5,780 20,199 768
Transfer Payments 0 0 0 0 0
Central Costs 39,905 727 669 40,184 279
GROSS EXPENDITURE 107,337 27,533 25,821 108,453 1,115
INCOME (48,903) (21,628) (21,152) (50,414) (1,510)
NET EXPENDITURE 58,434 5,905 4,669 58,039 (395)

Page 46



Analysis by Head of Service £’000

 Head of Service Grouping
Annual
Budget

YTD 
Budget

YTD 
Actual

Forecast 
Outturn

Cash Limit 
Variance

  
Corporate Director 219 101 101 219 0
Economic Development & Housing 7,221 3,353 3,468 6,964 (257)
Planning & Assets 4,225 1,760 1,925 4,103 (122)
Transport & Contracted 3,013 310 (990) 3,011 (2)
Central Managed Costs 43,755 381 165 43,741 (14)
 NET EXPENDITURE 58,434 5,905 4,669 58,039 (395)

8 The main reasons accounting for the outturn position are as follows:

 Transport is forecast to be £2,000 overspent, mainly due to a 
scheduled Park and Ride contract increase (£110,000), additional 
costs of traffic management (£40,000), increased premises costs 
relating to car parks and bus shelters (£43,000) and minimum 
wage increases to contractors (£30,000) that are offset by an 
underspend on bus and rail contracts (£251,000).

 Planning and Assets is £0.122 million underspent, mainly resulting 
from additional planning fee income of £350,000, offset by 
£50,000 spend on an Archaeology relocation from Bowes 
Museum, £55,000 spend on a corporate property health check, 
£74,000 spend on the design and development of Inward 
Investment brand and £68,000 under achieved income on 
investment properties which are in rent free periods.

 Economic Development and Housing is predicted to be 
underspent by £0.257 million.  Business Durham is underspent by 
£132,000 due to a net increase in rental income. Economic 
Development is overspent by £43,000 due to some initial 
problems with outcome payments relating to the new employment 
& skills contract. Housing Solutions is underspent by £175,000 
due to savings in the GRT sites budgets and additional income in 
Housing Initiatives offsetting some overspends in other areas. 
Visit County Durham is overspent by £7,000 relating to staff 
turnover savings.

9 Appendix 2 provides a more detailed breakdown of variations across the 
service area contained within the revenue budget.

10 In summary, the service grouping has successfully maintained spending 
within its cash limit. It should also be noted that the estimated outturn 
position incorporates the MTFP savings required in 2018/19 which 
amount to £0.880 million. 

Capital Programme

11 The capital programme makes a significant contribution to the 
Regeneration ambitions of County Durham. The programme is relatively 
large and diverse and is managed by project delivery officers throughout 
the service.

Page 47



12 The capital programme was revised in May for budget rephased from 
2017/18. This increased the 2018/19 original budget. Further reports to 
the MOWG detailed further revisions, for grant additions/reductions, 
budget transfers and budget reprofiling into later years.  The revised 
budget now stands at £57.516 million.  

13 Summary financial performance to the end of June is shown below.

Service Original 
Annual 
Budget 
2018/19

Revised 
Annual 
Budget
2018/19

Actual 
Spend to 30 

June

Remaining 
Budget

 £000 £000 £000 £000
Economic Dev & Housing 25,676 26,554 4,597 21,957
Planning & Assets 18,001 18,005 2,234 15,771
Transport & Contracted 13,155 12,957 165 12,792
Total 56,832 57,516 6,996 50,520

14 Actual spend for the first nine months amounts to £6.996 million. 
Appendix 3 provides a more detailed breakdown of spend across the 
major projects contained within the former RED capital programme.

15 The key areas of spend to date have been on Industrial Estates (£1.106 
million), Structural Capitalised Maintenance (£1.056 million). Other areas 
of the programme are profiled to be implemented during the remainder of 
the year and it is anticipated that the projected outturn at 31 March 2019 
will be in line with the revised budget.

16 At year end the actual outturn performance will be compared against the 
revised budgets and service and project managers will need to account 
for any budget variance. 

Recommendations:

17 The Scrutiny Committee is requested to note the contents of this report.

Contact:   Philip Curran – Finance Manager                                      
Tel: 03000 261 967

Page 48



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an 
analysis of the revenue and capital projected outturn position.

Staffing

None.

Risk
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Accommodation

None.

Crime and disorder

None.

Human rights

None.

Consultation

None.

Procurement

None.

Disability Issues

None.

Legal Implications

None.

Page 49



Appendix 2: Revenue Budget Variances – Quarter 1 2018-19

Head of 
Service Service Area

Description
(Under) / 

Overspend 
(Under) / 

Overspend 

Head of Economic 
Development

No Variance

0
Economic 
Development & 
Housing Physical 

Development
There is a net overspend in 
Management on professional fees 
and project development costs of 
£76k offset by additional recharge 
income.

0

 

Visit County 
Durham

There is an overspend of £7k on 
employee costs due to unachieved 
staff turnover savings.

7
Business Durham Business Durham has an overall 

underspend of (£132)k. 

Business Space is under budget by 
(£262k). There is an underspend of 
(£361k) for NETPark due to 
additional rent received in respect of 
the Institute, Incubators, Discovery 2 
and other units. Business Space 
South is over budget by £114k as a 
result of under recovered income for 
Salvus House pending the property 
being fully occupied. The Dales 
Centre is under budget by (£36k) due 
to additional income on business 
units. Business Space North has a 
net underspend of (£15k) due to 
minor variances across all sites. The 
Management cost centre is over 
budget by £36k due to increased staff 
costs and reduced income. The 
Business Durham budgets will be 
realigned in the next quarter to reflect 
a recent restructure and budget 
variances amended in line with this. 

Business Growth, Development and 
Corporate have a net over spend of 
£130k as a result of a recent 
restructure and unallocated MTFP 
savings.

(132)
Economic 
Development

There is an overspend of £99k in 
Employment & Skills due to delays 
with the outcome payments for the 
new service contract, the issue is 
currently being investigated by the 
DWP. The delivery fee is being 
received but referrals are les than 
anticipated.

There is a small net under spend of 
(£3k) on Employability.

These are offset by underspends of 
(£53k) in Community Economic 
Development, International Relations 
and ED Management largely due to 
miscellaneous savings and over 
achieved income. 43

Page 50



Head of 
Service Service Area

Description
(Under) / 

Overspend 
(Under) / 

Overspend 

Housing Solutions There is an over spend of £32k in 
Housing Solutions Management for 
staff costs offset by other savings..

GRT site budgets are underspent by 
(£99)k due to savings on Premises 
and Supplies & Services costs and 
additional income generated.

Housing Initiatives, Activities and 
Improvement are underspent by 
(£108k) due to underspends on 
Supplies & Services and additional 
income from Darlington HIA and 
landlord accreditation. (175)

         

(257)
Head of SPPAE £74k Inward Investment Brand 

Development
£55k Corporate Property Health 
Check
£50k one off transfer to Culture & 
Sport re: Archaeology at Bowes 
Museum

179
Spatial Policy £13k overspend unachieved staff 

turnover savings
13

 

Spatial Policy, 
Planning 
Assets & 
Environment 

Planning 
Development 

£47k overspend Dangerous 
Structures - Waldridge Club 
(demolition costs)
£27k overspend Planning Appeals - 
(re: Woodham Burn)
(£28k) underspend Building Control - 
£20k underachieved income offset by 
underspends on staffing (12k) and 
(£36k) supplies & services
(£15k) underspend Business 
Development Support - various 
supplies & services
(£381k) underspend Development 
Management - significantly over-
achieved income (350k) plus 
underspends on staffing (27k) and 
supplies & services (4k)

(350)
Environment & 
Design 

(£25k) underspend Design & 
Conservation - (£8k) vacant post and 
(£17k) supplies
(£61k) underspend Sustainability - 
additional grant income (£51k 
REBUS/LOCARBO) & underspend 
on solar maintenance (£10k)
£38k overspend Landscapes - 
overspend inc £20k re: Field 
Boundary Restoration Grants not 
spent in 17/18 & £17k underachieved 
income (re: bad budget) which Steve 
Bhowmick is looking to re-apportion 
within his area.
£15k overspend Archaeology - 
various supplies (e.g. 
events/publications inc Binchester) & 
£4k unbudgeted staff pension (33)

 

                   

Page 51



Head of 
Service Service Area

Description
(Under) / 

Overspend 
(Under) / 

Overspend 

Asset Management £71k overspend on staffing. 
Vacancies taking time to be filled, but 
offset by 9 posts that are to be 
funded from cash limits
£13k overspend on High Street 
Spennymoor, unoccupied office 
space
£12k overspend at Millennium 
Square
(£42k) underspend at The Tommy 
Armstrong Centre as lease has 
ended
£98k overspend at Northumbria 
House, Waterstons are moving in but 
1 year rent free
(£13k) underspend at Priory House. 
Tenant had rent free period but will 
be start paying from 08/02/2019 (full 
year income will be £94k)
(£20k) underspend elsewhere across 
the service

119
Strategy Policy 
Partnerships & 
Support 

(£37k) underspend on staffing due to 
delays in recruiting to two new posts
£10k overspend on supplies and 
travel
(£22k) underspend on Income 
re:secondment to NECA

(49)
Funding and 
Programmes

No Variance

0

         

          (122)
Management 18k Minor variance pending a re-

allocation of savings
18

Strategic Transport 10k Under budget due to vacancy 
savings (£57k)
43k Over budget due to an increase 
in business rates for car parks and 
bus stations
40k Over budget on supplies and 
services mainly due to traffic 
management costs
140k Over budget due to a scheduled 
Park and Ride contract increase -
£110k and minimum wage increases 
to contractors -£30k.
(147k) Over achieved on car parking 
income arising from works in Durham 
City

206

Transport

Sustainable 
Transport

26k Over budget due to vacancy 
savings not met 
(251k) Under budget on bus and rail 
contracts

(225)

     
 

          

          

              (2) 
Page 52



Head of 
Service Service Area

Description
(Under) / 

Overspend 
(Under) / 

Overspend 

Care Connect 38k Over budget on employee costs 
following changes in staff hours and 
rota patterns.
(39k) Under budget on other costs 
mainly due to service efficiencies on 
CCTV and community alarms 
communication equipment (1)

Central Central Costs
2018/19 MTFP savings made early 
and reduced premises costs.              (14)   (14)

TOTAL    (395)

Page 53



Appendix 3: Capital Programme 2018-19

 Revised 
Annual Budget 

2018/19
Actual Spend to 

30 June
Remaining 

Budget 

Scheme  
 £’000 £’000 £’000

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & HOUSING    
Barnard Castle Vision 0 0 0
Durhamgate 2,871 1,098 1,773
Industrial Estates 6,058 1,106 4,952
North Dock Seaham 30 0 30
Office Accommodation 6,800 139 6,661
Town Centres 2,730 493 2,237
Minor Schemes 168 0 168
Disabled Facilities Grant / FAP 3,799 864 2,935
Gypsy Roma Travellers 0 0 0
Housing Renewal 3,048 897 2,151
Chapter Homes 1,050 0 1,050
TOTAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & HOUSING 26,554 4,597 21,957
   
PLANNING & ASSETS    
Renewable Energy Schemes 1,022 73 949
Structural Capitalised Maintenance 6,594 1,056 5,538
North Pennines - Peatland 3,037 72 2,965
REAL – Beamish Project 5,086 1,016 4,070
REAL – Housing Development 2,060 1 2,059
Minor Schemes 56 15 41
Strategy and Programmes Minor Schemes 150 0 150
TOTAL PLANNING & ASSETS 18,005 2,234 15,771

TRANSPORT & CONTRACTED SERVICES
 
Local Transport Plan 2,848 291 2,557
Transport Corridors 0 0 0
Transport Major Schemes 10,109 (126) 10,235
CCTV 0 0 0
Minor Schemes 0 0 0
TOTAL TRANSPORT & CONTRACTED SERVICES 12,957 165 12,792
 
Total 57,516 6,996 50,520

(1) FAP – Financial Assistance Programme

Page 54



Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

25 September 2018

Quarter One 2018/19
Performance Management Report 

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council

Purpose of the Report

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the council’s 
corporate performance framework for the Altogether Wealthier theme for the 
first quarter of the 2018/19 financial year. 

Summary

2 The employment rate in the county has remained in excess of 71% for the fifth 
successive quarter and Durham outperforms the region against this key 
indicator. However, we remain lower than the national average and our gross 
disposable income per head is low with the average for County Durham being 
only 78% of the national figure. The unemployment rate stands at 5.4% and is 
improving but is one full percentage point higher than the national average. 
Youth unemployment is significantly higher at 15% for the period although 
proportionately more 16-17 year olds are in apprenticeships compared to 
regional and national figures. Registered businesses continue to rise in the 
county and the council has secured funding for and is engaged in a number of 
innovative programmes to make County Durham a good place to do business. 
Some of these programmes are funded by the European Union and we watch 
the Brexit situation closely to determine how this will impact on County 
Durham and the North East. 

3 New indicators to capture how we are performing against our new duties 
introduced through the Homelessness Reduction Act show that we continue to 
help people threatened with homelessness to stay in their own home or move 
in to alternative accommodation. Our intervention work on bringing empty 
properties back into use and the number of affordable homes delivered both 
exceed performance for last year. Consultation on the County Durham Plan 
preferred options is now complete. A large volume of responses was received 
and these are now being processed for inclusion in the pre-submission draft of 
the plan later in the year.  

Page 55

Agenda Item 10



4 The condition of our principal roads is similar to national averages. We 
continue to secure high levels of incentive funding from the Department for 
Transport because Durham received the maximum efficiency rating by the 
Department for Transport. Maintenance backlogs on our transport structures 
such as bridges have grown as we improve the accuracy of stock condition 
survey data.

5 Visitors to County Durham increased in 2017 with 400,000 more visitors than 
2016. There were an extra 524 jobs supported by the visitor economy than the 
previous year, and visitor expenditure was almost 5% higher.

Performance Reporting Arrangements for 2018/19

6 Our performance management framework provides us with a valuable insight 
into the extent to which we are achieving our objectives and how effectively 
the council and its partners are meeting the needs of our residents. It enables 
us to regularly assess, report on and scrutinise performance to support the 
continuous improvement of our services.

7 It brings together key planning, monitoring and evaluation processes through 
an integrated suite of documents, including the Sustainable Community 
Strategy, Council Plan, Service Plans and the Medium Term Financial Plan, 
and demonstrates the contribution made at various levels of the organisation 
to our priority themes.

Overview of performance 

8 Altogether Wealthier is one of six priority themes that form the basis of our 
performance management framework. This report sets out the key messages 
relating to this priority theme structured around the following five areas of 
focus:

 Do residents have good job prospects?
 Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
 Is County Durham a good place to do business?
 Is it easy to travel around the county?
 How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local 

economy?

9 23 indicators support this priority theme. Since the last report, there have been 
eight changes to the indicator set, six new and two deletions, as set out in 
Appendix 3. 

10 A comprehensive table of all performance data is attached as Appendix 2. 

Page 56



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER

1. Do residents have good job prospects? 
Employment Apprenticeships

Durham England NE

16-17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship (Mar 2018) 9.6% 5.9% 8.1%

949 apprenticeships through Durham County Council 
schemes sustained for 15 months or more (Jun 2018), which 
equates to 88.4% of all apprenticeship starts through these 
schemes. 

Gap between County Durham and both 
regional and national performance is widening

71.2% (231,400) 
working age 
population in 
employment 

(2017/18)

In line with previous 
year (71.5%) 

DCC apprenticeship schemes have 
made good progress over the five years

Youth 
unemployment

(18-24 year olds) has 
improved since last year

16.1% (2016/17)

15.0% (2017/18)

Higher than England and 
Wales average 12.2% 

(2017/18)

Per capita household
disposable income (£) 

P
age 57



Do residents have good job prospects?

11 Of the five indicators that support this area, the percentage of working age 
population in employment has declined slightly on last year and is below the 
national average. Per capita household disposable income has reduced since 
last year and is below national and regional averages. The number of gross 
potential jobs created or safeguarded as a result of Business Durham activity 
has deteriorated compared to last year. 

12 The employment rate continues to stand at a high level at 71.2%, remaining 
higher than regional levels but below national levels. It is estimated that 
231,400 of the county’s 16 to 64 year olds are in employment, with 81% of 25 
to 49 year olds in employment. Unemployment in County Durham has shown 
a slight decline in the latest period. The latest data shows that 5.4% (13,200) 
of the working age population were unemployed in the year April 2017 to 
March 2018 compared to 6.4% (15,900) in the period January to December 
2017.  Analysis over the longer term shows the unemployment rate is 
declining and tracking regional trends (5.6%) but remains higher than the 
England and Wales average of 4.4%. Youth unemployment currently stands at 
15% for the period April 2017 to March 2018, showing a decrease on the last 
reporting period (19.2%) and in comparison to last year (16.1%).

13 However, whilst the employment rate is improving, the disposable income per 
person in County Durham is 6% lower than the regional figure and over 21% 
lower than the national average indicating that the Durham economy is more 
reliant on low-income jobs. 

14 The final outturn figure for DCC apprenticeships for those sustaining for 15 
months or more stands at 88.4%. Of the 1,073 apprenticeship starts, 949 
sustained their apprenticeship for 15 months or more.

Page 58



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?    
3. Is County Durham a good place to do business? 
Decent and Affordable Housing Good place to do business

56
Empty properties brought back into use as a result of LA 
intervention (Apr-Jun 2018). Better than target (37) and 
last year (45).

381 Net new homes completed (Apr-Jun 2018).
£10.5M funding secured for infrastructure works at Jade 
Business Park secured from NELEP and site investigation 
has commenced. 

473 Affordable homes delivered (2017/18), 
47% increase on last year (322).

3,138 Households accessing Housing Solutions Services (Jun 
2018).

447 Properties improved, adapted or brought back into use 
(Apr-Jun 2018).

202 Households helped to stay in their home (Apr-Jun 2018).

117 Households helped to move to alternative 
accommodation (Apr-Jun 2018).

Expression of interest submitted for the 
business growth fund capital grants 
programme was successful and the full 
ERDF application submitted.

£1.25 million secured from the GovTech
Programme via Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy.

P
age 59

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj2292vnercAhUNhxoKHXa4Aq0QjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.stickpng.com/img/miscellaneous/english-pounds/piles-of-one-pound-coins&psig=AOvVaw3KPzwRUd6P2OIBuuT2szwt&ust=1534256524466440
https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://png.pngtree.com/element_origin_min_pic/16/07/25/145795af1fad088.jpg&imgrefurl=https://pngtree.com/freepng/housing-flat-icon-symbol_647672.html&docid=GxtjK0WzjwCzgM&tbnid=gSWUR9a4tx51xM:&vet=10ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo..i&w=250&h=250&bih=576&biw=1366&q=house%20symbol&ved=0ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://png.pngtree.com/element_origin_min_pic/16/07/25/145795af1fad088.jpg&imgrefurl=https://pngtree.com/freepng/housing-flat-icon-symbol_647672.html&docid=GxtjK0WzjwCzgM&tbnid=gSWUR9a4tx51xM:&vet=10ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo..i&w=250&h=250&bih=576&biw=1366&q=house%20symbol&ved=0ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://png.pngtree.com/element_origin_min_pic/16/07/25/145795af1fad088.jpg&imgrefurl=https://pngtree.com/freepng/housing-flat-icon-symbol_647672.html&docid=GxtjK0WzjwCzgM&tbnid=gSWUR9a4tx51xM:&vet=10ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo..i&w=250&h=250&bih=576&biw=1366&q=house%20symbol&ved=0ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=https://png.pngtree.com/element_origin_min_pic/16/07/25/145795af1fad088.jpg&imgrefurl=https://pngtree.com/freepng/housing-flat-icon-symbol_647672.html&docid=GxtjK0WzjwCzgM&tbnid=gSWUR9a4tx51xM:&vet=10ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo..i&w=250&h=250&bih=576&biw=1366&q=house%20symbol&ved=0ahUKEwjl5emEiefcAhULB8AKHVjgAIUQMwiDAigqMCo&iact=mrc&uact=8


Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?

15 Of the seven indicators that support this area, four are new this quarter so 
comparator data is not available. One indicator has deteriorated, the number 
of net homes completed has deteriorated in comparison to last year. 

16 The preferred options consultation for the County Durham Plan was agreed by 
Cabinet on 13 June, and consultation is now complete (from 22 June to 3 
August). All representations made will be processed and considered with a 
view to producing a pre-submission draft of the Plan in autumn/winter 2018. 

17 High performance against the number of empty properties brought back into 
use continues with a quarter one outturn of 56 (12% higher than average 
17/18 quarterly figures).  Affordable housing delivery in 2017/18 has shown a 
positive outturn of 473 units, the highest level of delivery in recent years; and 
is a combination of shared ownership, affordable rented and units delivered 
through section 106 agreements with developers. This is a 47% increase on 
the 322 delivered in 2016/17 and demonstrates the results of greater 
collaboration with registered providers and Homes England. 

18 Quarter one has seen a below average number of households accessing the 
Housing Solutions Service; the average number for 2017/18 was 4,495 per 
quarter. This is due to the online Enhanced Housing Options Wizard no longer 
being available for clients to complete as the new Code of Guidance for the 
Homeless Reduction Act (HRA) states that local authorities should not use 
wizards as part of the advice and triage process. Previously, the wizard acted 
as an online information tool for those accessing the service via the web and 
was designed to help those who required very little assistance in resolving 
their query. However, in some instances, clients with more complex queries 
did not get the right support. Also, work completed prior to the introduction of 
the HRA found that the majority of people accessing the wizard also contacted 
the service directly, therefore, it could be argued that the wizard figures should 
not have counted towards the overall access figures to the service. As such, 
back data will be revised to show the true trend going forward. To ensure all 
those who require assistance from Housing Solutions are aware of the 
services we offer, we have improved the information on the website and are 
currently carrying out a range of awareness sessions, as well as developing 
the duty to refer. Work is ongoing with the Marketing & Communications Team 
to develop publicity material and messages continue to be published through 
social media. Under the new ways of working (HRA), 202 households have 
been helped to stay in their home and 117 have been helped to move to 
alternative accommodation and we will continue to monitor the position 
closely.

Page 60



Is County Durham a good place to do business?

19 Of the two indicators that support this area, the Gross Value Added (GVA) per 
capita in County Durham although improved in comparison to last year, is 
below national and regional averages.  

20 There have been a number of developments during the quarter which 
contribute to our objective to make County Durham a top location for business.

21 £10.5 million secured from the North East Local Enterprise Partnership for 
infrastructure works at Jade Business Park and site investigations have 
commenced. £1.25 million has also been secured from the GovTech Fund 
Competition programme ran by the Department of Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy. This money will be used to identify and work with cutting 
edge technology businesses to find innovative solutions to operational service 
and policy delivery changes. An expression of interest was submitted to the 
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) for the council’s business 
growth fund capital grants programme. This was approved and worked up into 
a full ERDF application for £6,092,447 which was submitted in July. This was 
matched by £9.1 million investment from the private sector (SMEs) which 
brought the total project cost to £15,192,447.

22 Business Durham staff continue to engage with businesses regarding a range 
of opportunities, which could lead to potential research and innovation 
collaborations. There are a number of potential inward investment projects in 
the pipeline with reasonably strong enquiries currently for Forrest Park, Jade 
Business Park and Drum Industrial Estate. The Finance Durham Fund has 
helped another two businesses to secure investment, bringing the total of 
investments to date to seven. There are a further three potential pipeline 
investments identified for completion in quarter two, and a further five 
companies in the early stage of discussions.

 

Page 61



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
4. Is it easy to travel around the county?      
5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy? 
Ease of travel around the County Visitors to the County

Bridge Stock Condition 2016 2017

Principal roads 83.8% 80%

Non-principal roads 83.7% 81%

An update on Transport Asset Management Plan 2017 has been to CMT.

£187.6m needed to bring DCC highway assets up to a good 
condition, having no backlog or defects (March 2017).

In line with other councils and is a reduction against the 
maintenance backlog in March 2016 (£191.7 million). 

Structures are in ‘good to fair’ condition. Backlog has 
grown over the past year due to updated and more 
accurate condition surveys, particularly for bridges.

Road maintenance remained relatively static over the 
last year. A, B and C roads are in line with national 
average, whereas unclassified roads are below.

17.8 17.9 18.1

18.7 19.3
19.7

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Visitors to County Durham (million) 

10,643

10,899
10,803

10,961
11,158

11,682

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Jobs supported by the visitor economy

Visitor economy indicators show strong growth

P
age 62

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiS5s_8i-fcAhVHWxoKHcJwBH8QjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.thenorthernecho.co.uk/news/16344589.deerness-bridge-repairs-are-nearing-completion/&psig=AOvVaw3kMXDIgsHZo9lX6KF3Axqu&ust=1534148819250144


Is it easy to travel around the county?

23 Of the six indicators that support this area, the percentage of B and C roads 
and unclassified roads where maintenance is recommended have increased 
slightly, unclassified roads are also performing below national averages. The 
bridge stock condition on stock principal and non-principal roads in 2017 has 
deteriorated in comparison to the 2016 data. 

24 The Annual Local Authority Road Maintenance (ALARM) Survey 2018 
estimates the backlog for carriageways and footways across England and 
Wales has fallen by almost 23% to £9.3 billion.  If adequate funding and 
resources were in place it would take 14 years to get local roads back into a 
reasonable steady state, slightly worse than the 12 years reported in ALARM 
Survey 2017.  

25 The council, like most highways authorities, has a significant maintenance 
backlog.  As at March 2017, £187.6 million was needed to bring DCC highway 
assets up to a good condition with no backlog or defects. This is broadly in line 
with other councils and is a reduction against the maintenance backlog at 
March 2016 (£191.7 million). Carriageways and footways account for the 
largest proportion of the backlog, both of which have seen a decrease over the 
last year.

26 The condition of A, B and C principal roads has improved in recent years and 
are close to the national average. This reflects budget prioritisation to maintain 
roads with the highest usage. The condition of unclassified roads is below 
national average. However, there has been an improvement over the past 
year and an ongoing programme of resurfacing works is in place. A high 
proportion of footways require resurfacing but there has been an improvement 
over the past 3 years and an ongoing programme of resurfacing works is in 
place. Following the severe winter of 2017/18, which led to an increase in 
potholes, we invested a further £700,000 in resurfacing of unclassified roads. 
Poor performance on some of our contracts where contractors have not 
progressed work on time has also impacted on our targets. This has now been 
resolved and we should see an improvement in the second quarter of the 
year. A significant number of street lighting columns have reached the end of 
their service life. There is an ongoing column replacement programme in 
place. Structures such as bridges are generally in ‘good’ to ‘fair’ condition 
although the backlog has grown over the past year due to updated and more 
accurate condition surveys.

Page 63



27 We achieved the maximum Band 3 efficiency rating under the Department for 
Transport (DfT’s) Incentive Fund, one of only two Highway Authorities to 
achieve this maximum efficiency rating out of 119 participating Highway 
Authorities in England in 2016 and have maintained the maximum Band 3 
efficiency rating in 2017. This rating will help maximise funding from the DfT’s 
Incentive Fund going forward.  

28 We have also led the development and implementation of the North East 
Highways Alliance, a forum for collaborative working for all 12 North East 
councils, which was established in 2013. The Alliance has delivered a number 
of initiatives that are helping all councils to maximise efficiencies in highways 
through sharing resources and knowledge and collaborative procurement.  
This partnership working together with ongoing collaborative working of our in-
house highways services team has led to the Council being one of the first in 
the UK to be awarded British Standard BS11000 - Collaborative Business 
Relationships.  This will assist in maximising funding from the DfT.

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?

29 Latest data on all three indicators that support this area have improved.

30 Annual tourism data released this period are positive. The number of visitors 
as well as employment in tourism and the total contribution to the County 
Durham economy increased in 2017. During 2017, 19.71 million people visited 
Durham, which is up by 2.4% on 2016. Overall visitor expenditure was £867 
million, an increase of 4.9% on 2016. The number of people employed in 
tourism increased by 4.7% to 11,682 (FTEs). 

31 The following projects are planned for the next 2 years:

 Reviewing Durham Town Hall and developing a new operating model to 
improve the visitor experience. It is hoped phase one of the visitor 
attraction will be ready by September 2018.

 Reviewing Bishop Auckland Town Hall to develop an improved cultural 
offer. Awaiting a decision regarding additional funding for the project.

 In July, Cabinet agreed to stage a special 10th anniversary Lumiere festival 
in 2019 and a further event in 2021. 

32 In quarter one, the DLI welcomed 8,586 visitors, including people engaged 
with the DLI Collection via Palace Green exhibition, medal viewings, outreach 
events and sessions, as well as visitors and researchers at Sevenhills and 
visitors to ‘When the Bugle Calls’ touring exhibition. There were also 1,963 
pupils involved in educational outreach and 346 from community groups. 

Page 64



33 There has been a drop in visitor numbers as a result of works around the 
Palace Green site where access to the library has been limited. This trend will 
continue into the next quarter as works continue throughout July. The annual 
university congregation ceremonies held on Palace Green and in the cathedral 
during June and July will also affect access issues in the first and second 
quarters. 

34 Visitor numbers at Killhope have remained static when compared to last year. 
Figures were expected to be higher during April (-33% on April 17), however, 
the museum did not open in time for the Easter weekend due to adverse 
weather conditions impacting site access and resulting in the loss of five days’ 
trading. A new events programme has been developed to attract visitors 
throughout the year.

35 A number of festivals and events were held in quarter one. The Bishop 
Auckland Food Festival (21-22 April) was hugely successful and the first 
working with our programming partner, Channel Events. A very positive 
relationship was formed and the event once again proved popular with visitors 
to the county. Across the 2 days, 27,000 attended the event experiencing the 
best of the county’s food producers, chef demonstrations, masterclasses and 
more. A full evaluation will be available in quarter two. The Cycling Tour 
Series was held in Durham on 22 May. The final evaluation is being compiled 
by the event producer and should be available in the coming months. Both the 
Durham City Run and the Durham Brass festival were held in July 2018. The 
Brass Festival included five free community Big Brass Bash events which took 
place across the county involving 70 schools.

36 The council is now planning for the Durham Book Festival, which will be held 
in October 2018. The full programme has recently been announced at the 
launch event held in August. Planning for Lumiere 2019 will also start in the 
coming months.

Risk Management

37 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. The 
council’s risk management process sits alongside our change programme and 
is incorporated into all significant change and improvement projects.

38 There are no key risks to successfully delivering the objectives of this theme.

Recommendations and reasons

39 That the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive 
the report and consider any performance issues arising therewith. 

 Contact: Jenny Haworth              Tel: 03000 268 071     

Page 65

http://durhambookfestival.com/programme/


Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance
Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 
financial planning.

Staffing
Performance against a number of relevant corporate health performance indicators 
has been included to monitor staffing issues.

Risk
Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is integrated into 
the quarterly monitoring report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Corporate health PIs are monitored as part of the performance monitoring process. 

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and disorder are 
continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Procurement
Not applicable.

Disability Issues
Employees with a disability are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 
process. 

Legal Implications
Not applicable.

Page 66



Appendix 2: Key Performance Indicators 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document:
(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 

partners; and

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.  

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

KEY TO SYMBOLS

Direction of travel Benchmarking Performance against target

GREEN Same or better than comparable period Same or better than comparable group Meeting or exceeding target

AMBER Worse than comparable period
(within 2% tolerance)

Worse than comparable group 
(within 2% tolerance) Performance within 2% of target

RED Worse than comparable period 
(greater than 2%)

Worse than comparable group 
(greater than 2%) Performance >2% behind target

National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils.

North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils.

More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

P
age 67

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


Key Target and Tracker Indicators

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER

1. Do residents have good job prospects?

Comparison to

Ref PI
ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 
months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Tracker 71.5 75.1 71.0
1 RED 

40
% of the working age population in 
employment 71.2 2017/18

N/a AMBER RED GREEN

Tracker 15,496 19,447 16,197
2 RED 

188
Per capita household disposable 
income (£) 15,221 2016

N/a AMBER RED RED
2015

Tracker 735
3 RED 

105

Number of apprenticeships from 
Durham County Council schemes 
sustained at least 15 months

949 As at Jun 
2018 N/a GREEN

1,300 2,404
4 RED 

92

Number of gross potential jobs 
created or safeguarded as a result of 
Business Durham activity

1,066 2017/18
RED RED

Tracker 9.1 5.9 8.1
5 CYPS 

1
% of 16 to 17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship 9.6 As at Mar 

2018 N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER

2. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?

Ref PI
ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered
Comparison to

P
age 68



Period 
target

12 
months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

37 45
6 RED

30

Number of empty properties brought 
back into use as a result of local 
authority intervention

56 Apr-Jun 
2018 GREEN GREEN

Tracker 422
7 RED

10b Number of net homes completed 381 Apr-Jun 
2018 N/a RED

200 322
8 RED

10ai
Number of affordable homes 
delivered 473 2017/18

GREEN GREEN

Tracker New 
indicator9

new new Number of households accessing 
the Housing Solutions Service 3,138 As at

June 2018 N/a N/a

Tracker New 
indicator10

new new Number of properties improved, 
adapted or brought back into use 447 Apr-Jun

2018 N/a N/a

Tracker New 
indicator11

new new Number of households helped to 
stay in their home 202 Apr-Jun

2018 N/a N/a

Tracker New 
indicator12

new new Number of households helped to 
move to alternative accommodation 117 Apr-Jun

2018 N/a N/a

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER

3. Is County Durham a good place to do business?

Ref PI
ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered
Comparison to

P
age 69



Period 
target

12 
months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Tracker 16,362 27,060^ 19,542^
13 RED

87
Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita 
in County Durham (£) 16,513 2016^

N/a GREEN RED RED

Tracker 16,585
14 RED

89
Number of registered businesses in 
County Durham 17,120 2017

N/a GREEN
^provisional data

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?

Comparison to

Ref PI
ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 
months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Tracker 3 3
15 NS 

6a
% of A roads where maintenance is 
recommended (scanner survey) 3 2017/18

N/a GREEN GREEN
2016/17

Tracker 3 6
16 NS

6b

% of B and C roads where 
maintenance is recommended 
(scanner survey)

4 2017/18
N/a AMBER GREEN

2016/17

Tracker 20 17
17 NS

6d

% of unclassified roads where 
maintenance is recommended 
(scanner survey)

21 2017/18
N/a AMBER RED

2016/17

Tracker 191.7
18 NS

7
Highways maintenance backlog 
(£millions) 187.6 2017

N/a GREEN

Tracker 83.819
new new Bridge Stock Condition – Principal 

Roads 80.0 2017
N/a RED

20
new new Bridge Stock Condition – Non-

Principal Roads 81.0 2017 Tracker 83.7

P
age 70



ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?

Ref PI
ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered

Comparison to

Period 
target

12 
months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

N/a RED

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER

5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?

Comparison to

Ref PI
ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 
months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered if 
different

Tracker 19.3
21 RED

100
Number of visitors to County 
Durham (million) 19.71 2017

N/a GREEN

Tracker 11,158
22 RED

101
Number of jobs supported by the 
visitor economy 11,682 2017

N/a GREEN

Tracker 806
23 RED

102
Amount (£ million) generated by the 
visitor economy 866.71 2017

N/a GREEN

Other additional relevant indicators 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

P
age 71



1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?

Comparison to

Ref PI
ref Description Latest 

data
Period 

covered Period 
target

12 
months 
earlier

National 
figure

North 
East 

figure

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour

Period 
covered 

if 
different

Tracker 31.7 31.1 30.9 30.7
25

CYPS 
27

Average point score per A level entry 
of state-funded school students 31.9*

2016/17
academic 

year N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN

Tracker 4.8 2.7 4.0
27

CYPS 
2

% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in 
education, employment or training 
(NEET)

5.1 Apr-Jun 18
N/a RED RED RED

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?

Tracker N/a 62 66 6462
new

CYPS
12a

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 
education, employment or training 
(EET)

85.3
As at

30 Jun 
2018 N/a New 

definition GREEN GREEN GREEN
2016/17

Tracker N/a 50 50 5063
new

CYPS
12b

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 
education, employment or training 
(EET)

55.3
As at

30 Jun 
2018 N/a New 

definition GREEN GREEN GREEN
2016/17

*provisional data for the 2017/18 academic year will be available at quarter 2 and final data available quarter 3.

P
age 72



Appendix 3: Changes to Performance Indicators

Altogether Wealthier

Indicator Change
18 to 24 year olds who are out of 
work and claiming either Universal 
Credit or Jobseekers Allowance 
(JSA)

% of Jobseeker Allowance (JSA) 
claimants that have claimed for one 
year or more.

These indicators were deleted due to 
concerns about their reliability due to the 
roll-out of Universal Credit making them 
increasingly meaningless. This follows 
advice from the Office of National Statistics. 
The unemployment rate is used by regional 
and national media when reporting on the 
economy. The status of the ONS published 
claimant count figures will be kept under 
review as this dataset is developed. 

Households accessing Housing 
Solutions Service
Properties improved, adapted or 
brought back into use
Households helped to stay in their 
home
households helped to move to 
alternative accommodation

New indicators introduced to capture our 
obligations under the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017

Bridge Stock Condition – principal 
roads
Bridge Stock Condition – non-
principal roads

These indicators were reinstated as 
corporate indicators at the request of 
scrutiny members 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

25 September 2018

Overview and Scrutiny County 
Durham Plan Workshop - Preferred 
Options Consultation Stage 

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships 

Purpose of the Report

1 To provide members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with a copy of the Overview and Scrutiny response which was fed 
into the Preferred Options stage consultation of the County Durham Plan.

Background

2 When considering the future work programme of the Economy and Enterprise 
OSC at the meeting held on the 5 April, 2018 committee members identified 
as an area of future focus the emerging County Durham Plan (the local plan 
for County Durham) and it was suggested that the committee take the lead at 
ensuring Overview and Scrutiny’s involvement in the further development of 
the plan.

3 Following the initial discuss of the work programme at the April meeting 
further conversations took place with the Chair and Vice-chair and it was 
suggested that Overview and Scrutiny workshops were arranged for the 
various consultation stages of the Plan to which all Overview and Scrutiny 
members will be invited. 

4 The work programme for the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee was agreed by the committee at its meeting on the 26 June 2018 
and identifies two Overview and Scrutiny County Durham Plan workshops.  
The workshops will provide the opportunity for Overview and Scrutiny 
members to feed comments into the Preferred Options stage consultation and 
the Pre-submission Draft Plan stage consultation.

Overview and Scrutiny County Durham Plan workshop

5 Arrangements were made for the Overview and Scrutiny County Durham Plan 
Preferred Options workshop to be held on 9 July 2018 with the Preferred 
Options stage of the County Durham Plan recognised as a significant stage in 
the development of the plan.  All Overview and Scrutiny members and co-
optees were invited to the workshop with 17 members and 8 co-optees 
attending. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 11



6 The programme for the workshop included: 

 A presentation by Stuart Timmiss, Head of Planning and Assets providing 
an overview of the plan, detail on specific themes, consultation 
arrangements and a timetable for the various stages of the plan.

 Group discussions on the following themes:
o Economic Ambition;
o Right Homes in the Right Places;
o Rural Employment Issues; 
o Supporting Infrastructure
o Design Quality.

7 During the group discussion notes were taken of the comments made by both 
members and co-optees in relation to the individual themes.  The notes have 
been collated into an Overview and Scrutiny response highlighting the key 
points raised across all five themes and attached as Appendix 2.  The 
response has been agreed with the Chair and Vice-chair of the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and the Economy and Enterprise 
OSC and shared with those members and co-optees who attended the 
workshop.

8 The response was then sent to Spatial Policy, Regeneration and Local 
Services on the 25 July 2018 as the Overview and Scrutiny formal response 
to feed into the then ongoing consultation on the Preferred Options stage of 
the County Durham Plan which ran from the 22 June to 3 August 2018.

Next steps

9 A further Overview and Scrutiny workshop to feed into the Pre-submission 
Draft Plan consultation is scheduled for the 4 February 2019 and will provide 
a further opportunity for members and co-optees to provide comments and 
further develop the County Durham Plan.

Recommendation

10 Members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
are asked to note the formal Overview and Scrutiny response attached as 
Appendix 2 which fed into the Preferred Options consultation stage of the 
County Durham Plan. 

Background Papers

County Durham Plan Preferred Options 2018
County Durham Plan - Summary of Preferred Options Stage 2018

Contact: Stephen Gwillym Tel: 03000 268 140
Author: Diane Close Tel: 03000 268 141

Page 76



Appendix 1: Implications

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A
 
Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity – N/A

Accommodation – N/A

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – N/A

Procurement – N/A

Disability Discrimination Act – N/A

Legal Implications – N/A 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Economy and Enterprise OSC
Overview and Scrutiny County Durham Plan Workshop

9 July 2018
Overview and Scrutiny Response

Below are the comments made by Overview and Scrutiny members and co-optees in 
relation to the five themes focused on during the workshop.

Group 1 - Economic Ambition

Comments
 There is need for a clearer industrial strategy within the County Durham Plan. 

Need detail of the key employment areas that are emerging and where these 
feature within the Plan. Specific sectors referenced here included 
Engineering; Energy and Digital. How does the plan seek to attract such 
industries into Durham offering high quality jobs– what provision is made 
within the Plan for these sectors and how will the benefits of high quality jobs 
on the strategic employment sites reach other communities in the county 
including rural communities?

 Need for the Plan to reflect the skills development needs already identified for 
the County.

 Need for the CDP to take account of those key Development Plans being 
produced by our neighbouring Local Authorities.

 In a number of emerging industrial /manufacturing sectors the importance of 
excellent IT/Broadband infrastructure across County Durham is essential, 
particularly when looking to develop entrepreneurship and smaller micro-
businesses.

 Retail provision - Concern at how attractive County Durham is as an area to 
develop new retail businesses, particularly in view of high business rates/rents 
within the County, car parking provision, larger units with cheaper rents 
outside of town centres.

 Town centres have to evolve and offer an experience, plan needs to help with 
this more flexibility in relation to change of usage. 

 Does the County Durham Plan “enable” investment/economic activity rather 
than “frustrate” it?

Page 79



 There may be cases where Town Centres need to contract to allow them to 
remain vibrant and attractive.

 Does the Plan promote the retention of Durham University graduates/ How do 
we keep expertise so that Durham can be a world class centre of innovation? 
Reference made to the long term ambition for the Aykley Heads site and 
developments like Salvus House.

 The Plan should be promoted jointly with our educational partners to ensure 
that graduate skills can be matched effectively with industry/employment.

 In relation to car parking charges there is a disparity throughout the County in 
relation to the parking offer from DCC, there was also private carparks.  Most 
shoppers wanted to park as close as possible to the shop.  Town centres do 
not have the unit space that the retailers want.

 Town centres are declining - banks are closing in towns and villages with 
residents expected to use online banking and retailers are finding customers 
go into the shop to see a product then check to see if they can get it online 
cheaper.  Need to consider how we develop our town centres.

 There are a lot of pit villages, and when the pits closed, one Member felt not 
enough had been done for that area – this is common across the County.  
The CPD is going forward, and aims to address what is needed in these areas 
now.  People change and live differently, change is ongoing.  People are 
shopping differently, people may choose to travel to get the school of choice 
for their child – this all has impacted on the local economy.  There needs to be 
a balanced, mixed economy.

 Another village (Sacriston) had a lot of money spent on it, Durham Works had 
been involved.  The result being that there are now a number of 
entrepreneurs who cannot find premises.  A lot of people want to work but 
cannot afford to get work, e.g. travel into Durham City is expensive when they 
are on low/minimum wage, or are offered part-time work. There is a lot of new 
housing, but it has become a commuter village – people do not stay or spend 
money in local businesses.  The main street is now full of takeaways, off 
licences or has been returned into residential housing.

 In relation to rural areas, there is a need for adequate public transport, access 
to banks, schools, health provision and services, and affordable homes

Page 80



Group 2 – Right Homes in the Right Places

Comments
 Mapping in County Durham Plan out of date – needs to identify sites where 

planning approval has already been given when going out to public 
consultation.  Example given a site in Willington has already got approval for 
250 homes not included on CDP map.  The CDP map shows a housing 
allocation for Willington which identifies a further site for housing of 200 
homes.

 Issue with some developers siting on housing sites in the county – land 
banking.

 Need to ensure that developers deliver on what is agreed by planning 
committee - history of developers changing original proposal through 
variations and therefore not delivering the number of affordable homes 
previously agreed in original consent. There is a need for more affordable 
housing in the county, increasing the opportunity for residents of County 
Durham to become home owners.  The plan needs to ensure that the 
developers are required to deliver the number of affordable homes identified 
in the original proposal. 

 In relation to Bearpark concern about the site identified for the additional 50 
homes displacing a local employment site.  Need to provide more employment 
land alongside new housing.

 In relation to Newton Aycliffe, Low Copelaw proposed development concern 
about it being in the wrong place beyond the A167 and outside what is 
considered the settlement area.

 Concerns over site H22 at Crook in terms of location and viability.  If section 
106 monies go to the Western Relief Road there will be a lack of 106 monies 
to develop infrastructure locally.  For example, a new play park is required 
under the play strategy for this site.  What alternative sites including 
brownfield sites have been discounted and why?  Alternative sites in Crook 
should be pursued.

 Section 106 money should be retained within the local area where the 
development is taking place to develop infrastructure.

 Housing type across the county does not always meet need or aspirations. In 
relation to 10% older persons requirement, this is too broad a statement – 
each area has to be looked at separately, more flexibility to see what is 
appropriate.  Also need to look at suitability of site for older people’s 
accommodation e.g. older persons housing may not be appropriate on a steep 
site with a long walk to services and facilities.

Page 81



 The number of proposed houses in Crook has been reduced significantly.  
This will reduce the future viability of the town as one of the major towns in the 
plan.  Additional bungalows and affordable housing are required to future 
proof the town.  Crook has a declining number of residents due to single 
occupancy and declining pupil numbers as well as an aging population.  
Increasing residents will boost the local economy, ensure rural school 
numbers are maintained and that the elderly can continue to remain in the 
local area.

 In relation to Brandon football ground and the Oaks, Esh Winning concern 
about sites left derelict for a number of years after demolition of housing has 
taken place.

 Positive to see specialist housing in plan, need to ensure consultation with 
Alzheimer’s and Dementia Society, visually impaired groups, disabled groups 
etc.

 Need to ensure that the right infrastructure is in place to support housing 
development in CDP including roads, schools, GP surgeries and public 
transport including retaining public transport on our existing large housing 
estates in the county.

 New homes in the county need access to broadband (fibre) provision to 
enable connectivity especially in rural areas.

 Need to look at replacing/renewing original power grid infrastructure, concern 
as to whether current power infrastructure can cope with electric vehicle car 
charging points and housing development proposed in the emerging County 
Durham Plan.

 Issue with private landlords/investors buying up apartments/homes to rent 
privately and the type of tenant attracted to the private rented sector.

 Would the Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) actually free up 
Houses of Multiple Occupation.  Can DCC lobby Government so that 
landlords of HMO’s are captured via business rates? 

 A greater concentration of students in Durham City is forcing families out of 
the city centre, little alternative provision for families in city centre at a 
reasonable cost. Therefore families are being forced into the surrounding 
villages unnecessarily.

Group 3 – Supporting Infrastructure

Comments
 In relation to employment estates can we look at the possibility of adopting the 

highways on these estates as currently they are not recognised on Satellite 
Navigation systems and therefore difficult to find. 

Page 82



 Need to look at education provision in the county as currently pupils living in 
C-L-S attending schools in Gateshead and pupils living in Sunderland 
attending C-L-S secondary schools.  An example was given that a secondary 
school was closed because of a fall in roll numbers and since the closure six 
years ago, there are now new developments, which has led to children 
travelling to school out of the area because nearer schools are 
oversubscribed.  This appears to be disjointed.

 Need to look at broadband availability not just in rural areas but also across 
County Durham as a whole including new homes having access to broadband 
(fibre) provision.

 Need to look at transport for older people in rural communities to ensure they 
are not socially isolated.

 Rural areas, infrastructure is an issue, there are transport issues and concern 
was expressed about how residents in rural areas would access high quality 
employment on the strategic employment sites in the county.  The plan needs 
to ensure that the proposed infrastructure provides the means for residents in 
rural areas to access high quality employment.  Remote working although a 
solution, needs good broadband.  The Plan includes this issue – developers 
have to provide reliable broadband in their plans.  Existing residents should 
also have a reliable service.  This is really important in rural areas as a way of 
keeping in contact with various issues – ‘What’s on’ etc.  Free broadband 
would encourage people to remain in the community and encourage new 
people/developers.  

 Highlighted that the opening of the Leamside railway line will ease congestion 
on the East Coast Main Line.

 The group discussed that the requirement for railway stations was based on 
the amount of the population that used them.  There was also an issue of the 
railway being in private control and different companies being in control of 
different parts the system such as the track, the rolling stock etc.  There is 
also a need for private companies to deliver a dividend to shareholders and 
that a plan to reopen a railway line would need to show a viable return 
together with a political will.

 Issue with developments located where there is not capacity in the local 
schools or GP surgeries to accommodate additional people.  Transport is a 
major concern but the group felt that developers do not look at transport links 
and gave the example of the housing developments at Consett.  People who 
live on these developments travel via Chester le Street to get to A1M this 
impacts on the traffic flows into the villages.

 The group also advised of their disappointment that the CCGs had not 
engaged and added this was a barrier and it was suggested that officers might 
want to contact Joseph Chandy from the CCG to discuss.

Page 83



 The group then discussed the amount of land that had plans approved but to 
date there had been no development.  They also discussed derelict buildings 
owned by DCC and the impact this has on putting off people moving into 
areas and developers from investing in areas too. 

 Members went on to discuss the decline of town centres that banks are 
closing in towns and villages and expect people to use online banking and 
retailers are finding customers go into the shop to see a product then check to 
see if they can get it online cheaper.

 Town centres do not have the unit space that the retailers want.

 In relation to traffic modelling members talked about congestion of traffic in 
Chester le Street area and agreed the Northern Relief road would ease 
congestion in Durham City.

 The group discussed rural public transport and how it was non-existent in 
some rural villages.  An example was given of people who live in Beamish 
Village cannot get a bus directly to Stanley, they have to get a bus to Pelton 
and change to get the bus to Stanley.  Beamish to Stanley is about two miles 
apart.  Highlighted that in rural areas there is no service on Sundays, the 
service starts later on a morning and finishes earlier on an evening. This 
leaves people living in rural communities who do not have their own transport 
often late for work.  Anyone working in Durham would be unable to get there 
to start work at 8.30am.  An example was given of a person who worked in a 
supermarket had to get a taxi to work and back. 

 Members then discussed problems of broadband connectivity this was a 
problem for people on Universal Credit as claims needed to be made via the 
internet and also for farmers who needed the internet to access subsidies 
otherwise they face sanctions.

 The group discussed Electric Vehicles (EVs) and access to charging points in 
rural areas, need to ensure adequate number of charging points for the future.

 In relation to cycling, the group felt that the cycling network in County Durham 
was ‘patchy’ and did not connect up.

 The issue was raised about footway links between Sacriston to New College – 
this is a 1-2 mile stretch and if there was a footpath people would be more 
inclined to walk.  A footpath was in place between Sacriston to Nettlesworth 
but was in poor repair and if it was in better condition people could walk to the 
Arnison centre.  Parents complain about the lack of suitable footpaths in the 
Sacriston area.

 The group agreed with the strategic traffic plan and indicated that most people 
in the Barnard Castle area are in favour of this to get the HGVs out of the 
town.  It was highlighted that the A68 runs through the village Toft Hill and 
HGVs are travelling through terraced streets.

Page 84



 The group was supportive of the Northern Relief Road but were concerned 
about the routes going through the green belt.  In general all agreed that a link 
was needed.

 The group questioned how much liaison there was between DCC and the 
University re student transport (cars) and suggested that undergraduates 
should not be allowed to bring cars into the city.

Group 4 - Rural Employment

Comments
 Low income employment means no affordable housing in rural areas – expensive 

houses and also weekend ownership of properties.

 Minimum wage employment and seasonal employment is an issue – a 
reasonable income means access to housing, access to services.

 Partnership working is critical, also when working with young people to set up 
projects, rather than silo working. 

 Residents often feel the County Durham Plan focus is Durham centric – need to 
show what other communities are being offered or are getting from the Plan to 
address this.

 The County Durham Plan (CDP) now has flexibility to redress this.  However, it 
has to be realistic, rural areas are not ideal for industrial parks etc.

 The group was advised that the CPD has been subject to a process of rural 
proofing – testing every policy in the Plan to see what the impact would be on 
rural communities – this will continue as policies are refined. The Plan has been 
written so that if an opportunity is put forward, there is a good framework in place 
to assess it.

 Need to encourage communities to come forward to give suggestions on what 
they need as a community. These suggestions will then be tested against the 
Plan.

 Access to broadband is critical to success – Policy 29 and Digital Durham.  If it is 
not available, there is a concern it may put off developers.  5G may assist.

 Reliable broadband would enable people to work remotely, so transport would be 
less of an issue.

 Good broadband accessibility also impacts upon the roll out of Universal Credit – 
which all has to be done online.  At present some people in rural areas have a 42 
mile round trip to access broadband.

Page 85



 The group was advised that the Plan includes a policy requiring new builds, 
whether residential or commercial, to include broadband connectivity in their 
proposals.

 Rural areas are not suitable for some industries, so would be better to focus on 
what is already on offer – including tourism/visitor economy.  Need to encourage 
visitors to spend money and stay longer in the area. The last CDP included 
information on Bishop Auckland becoming a tourist attraction – at the time 
seemed unlikely, however few years later and it is a thriving tourist attraction – 
Kynren.

 The Plan needs to be ambitious (as in Bishop Auckland/Kynren above).

 Employment in rural areas is seasonal and has low wages.  Need to raise 
aspirations to have a work ethic. There are opportunities, but poor transport and 
costs cause problems. 

 Wind turbines can also be an issue – The group was advised that there is a wind 
turbine policy included in the Plan.

 People who own tourist accommodation often struggle to rent them out.  An 
example was given whereby Gaunless Valley Visitor Centre had closed – this has 
had an impact, more need to be developed, not closed.

 Single owner businesses are an issue in rural areas, whereby the owner retires 
and family don’t want to take it over.  There are a few larger long term 
businesses, e.g. Glaxo – agreed there is a need for both so there is a mixed 
economy and flexibility.

 Premises for new or expanding businesses can also be a problem – rural areas 
do not have large industrial estates, therefore better use of existing buildings 
needs to be made.  Pods were suggested as an alternative for small businesses 
wishing to extend.  These are the kind of suggestions the Plan is welcoming for 
further discussion.  Need to use common sense – e.g. car parking issues, 
neighbours etc.

 There is an opportunity to draw on the strengths of the Dales and its tourism offer 
in the West of the county.  Explore the viability of providing a new retail/leisure 
offer of tourist/outdoor related businesses such as caravanning and camping, 
outdoor pursuits, off the A68 near Harperley as the gateway to the Dales to 
generate employment, improve infrastructure and transport links, boost the local  
economy and compliment the offer in town centres and surrounding retail parks.

 A lot of people want to work but cannot afford to get work, e.g. travel into Durham 
City is expensive when they are on low/minimum wage, or are offered part-time 
work.  This is a national issue – in the past local people worked locally, and did 
not have to travel, that is very different now.

Page 86



 Rural areas have their own challenges inadequate bus services, expensive fares, 
and lack of employers able to provide employment.

 How does the CDP help young people?  Partnership work is important, funding 
and accessibility to educational establishments is also critical, e.g. transport to 
colleges.

 It is recognised that visitors need to be encouraged to stay longer and spend 
money in the county.

 Cost of property is an issue – local people cannot afford expensive housing, and 
a lot of properties are now weekend owners/holiday lets.

 There is a need for adequate public transport, access to banks, schools, health 
provision and services, and affordable homes.  It is difficult to diversify without 
other issues being addressed.

 People see the economy as tourism in these areas, it is difficult to attract new 
businesses. There can be issues with skills shortages.  There is a need for a 
better skills base in order to attract investment.

 The Plan has flexibility but not sure if that is enough for rural areas.  It can only 
go so far, it is about policy, not funding. Until upfront investment happens, not 
much else will follow.  

 Rural areas need better paid employment and affordable housing to both attract 
future residents and retain existing residents.

 It is welcomed that the Plan provides the opportunity for a more flexible approach 
to proposals/suggestions, rather than specific proposals.  This is responsive to 
changing needs.

 Rural areas are constantly changing – how do we deal with this.  Suggestion for 
local stakeholder/partnership working, communities working together, as a co-
operative with mutual benefit. Community involvement for community benefit.

 If investment is not forthcoming, there is a need to focus on the existing 
strengths, e.g. farming and farm shops, local crafts, and also changes in rural life, 
such as equestrian centres. There is a policy to address equestrian/horses, which 
have benefits, but can also bring challenges to an area.

 Need to build on what is already in place, use local skills rather than reinventing – 
there is scope for co-operatives and joint working, which will support visitor 
economy.

 Highlighted that there are Brexit implications re support to farmers and rural 
businesses.

Page 87



Group 5 – Design Quality

Comments
 Suggested that derelict DCC buildings should be demolished and the land 

prepared for development to incentivise developers as the status quo would 
just see the price of the land decreasing.  DCC should lead by example and 
take pride in the local areas by demolishing buildings rather than leaving them 
boarded up.  The group was concerned about play areas and school fields 
being developed and suggested that perhaps other sites would be better 
suited such as brown field sites.

 DCC needs to lead by example in relation to derelict buildings as they blight 
communities, need for buildings to be demolished rather than boarded up for 
long periods of time.

 Need to look at how we undertake repairs/standard of repairs in our town 
centres to ensure they are in keeping with the surrounding areas such as 
Durham City where repairs to cobbles in city centre have been undertaken 
with tarmac.

 Better housing, environment and infrastructure but is this financially 
deliverable.  Need to ensure that developers are not able to ‘water down’ 
schemes and the design quality citing viability.

 Previous housing developments have committed to up to 30% of affordable 
homes but this has not been viable for the developer/builder and this number 
has reduced with the power being with the developer resulting in none or 
limited funding for town infrastructure ie schools or town centre developments. 
Spennymoor given as an example with 2,500 homes.  Felt that the design 
quality should be ‘black & white’ and ‘stick to it’.

 Plan aims for houses to be of minimum size and density. Felt that designs 
should include living standards for sizes of houses and specific rooms, car 
parking spaces and width of roads. Concerns were raised with issues from 
existing developments where car ownership and narrow roads have led to 
parking and access issues with complaints.  A need to learn from the past and 
experiences from other parts of the country and plan to prevent future 
problems from developments e.g. car parking and access through estates. 
Group asked approach from planning to ‘keep an eye’ on quality. 
Members were appraised and supportive that the draft plan increases 
required provision to accommodate car ownership and that there was also a 
12 point approach (building for life 12) with each development to assess 
certain criteria (Red, Amber and Green) including infrastructure and the 
environment. 

Page 88



 Linked to health & wellbeing where space is encouraged to be incorporated 
into developments and to balance ‘existing green spaces v density’. Felt 
unacceptable to impact significantly on green spaces, the importance to 
protect views and that the design is fit for the surrounding area local 
character, provides identity and leisure provision with walkways and cycle 
paths. 

 Important that prevention to ‘isolation’ is given consideration and 
developments have amenities with the correct/adequate infrastructure.  In 
addition, future proofing properties that can be adapted for a person’s 
age/condition i.e. conversation of downstairs WC to include a shower/wet 
room. Minimum standards of room sizes important. In addition, engagement 
with the NHS in within design stage for access to health services, ie Drs and 
hospitals. 

 Encouragement of sustainable travel options to contribute to Air quality. Felt 
statement was vague but welcome designs to have links to buses and trains 
rather than use of motor vehicle. As stated earlier reduction of car space and 
narrow roads on estates is not the answer but developing links to accessing 
transport is more beneficial. Resources have been put into sustainable travel 
ie cycle paths but felt that this was let down when paths are not maintained by 
cutting of verges and overhanging branches. In addition, employers be 
encouraged to provide shower facilities as part of a sustainable development 
programme. 

 There is a view that “quality costs money and looking to buy cheaper is not 
the same as quality, poor quality can lead to greater expense in the long term” 
Feel that there is a need to define quality more within the plan against finance. 

 When (DCC) land is sold or identified for development, ‘certain conditions’ 
should be identified (design parameters) and importance that these are 
adhered to and ensure the development meets its objective, in keeping with 
local area, plots are of a minimum size and protects the environment. 

 Designs need to be proactive and encourage alternative transport eg, bus, 
train, walk and cycle. Importance needs to be placed on this in the plan and 
ensure that this is linked to the County’s tourism agenda and that sustainable 
transport and planning policy is joined up. 

 At Planning meetings there needs to be clear illustrations of the proposed 
development, bland and vague diagrams can lead to lack of understanding of 
a proposed housing development. Felt more could be done to encourage 
consultation, especially when people are supportive of applications but don’t 
submit views. 

Additional comments

Consultation process

 Need to ensure that local voices are listened to during the consultation exercise, 
local people need to say what they want, where they want it and how they want it 
delivered.

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



1

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

MINUTES

Meeting County Durham Economic Partnership Board – Extended 
invitation for Local Plan

Date of Meeting Thursday 5th July 2018

Time 13.30 – 15.30
Venue Town Hall, Durham

Attendees:
Brian Tanner Chair
Sue Parkinson Vice Chair & Chair of the Business, Enterprise & Skills Group 
Michelle Cooper County Durham Community Foundation
Tarryn Lloyd Payne Partnerships, Durham County Council
Angela Brown Partnerships, Durham County Council
Andrew Wilson North East Fund
Adam White AAP, Durham County Council
Andy Palmer Transformation & Partnerships, Durham County Council
Michelle Gorman Visit County Durham  
Laura Martin Housing, Durham County Council
Paul Fiddaman Karbon
Cllr John Clare Durham County Council
Kate Abson County Durham Housing Group
Michelle Robinson Spatial Policy, Durham County Council
Stuart Timmiss Head of Planning & Assets, Durham County Council
Jon Gluyas Durham University
Mike Allum Spatial Policy, Durham County Council
Graeme Smith Spatial Policy, Durham County Council
David Louden Durham University
Dawn Fairlamb New College Durham 
Allison Gittins Durham Business Group
Ian Thompson Head of Regeneration and Local Services, Durham County 

Council
Colin Steel Livin
Sean Brodie Livin
Liz Charles Food Durham/DCA

Page 91

Agenda Item 12



2

1. Welcome
BT welcomed everyone to the meeting.  BT discussed the vision for the CDEP Board.  “We 
wish to see County Durham as a highly valued centre for growth and innovation with a 
vibrant local economy with high value employment opportunity, a quality housing offer and a 
highly skilled local workforce”

The top priority for CDEP is to improve the employment rate we are failing to close the gap 
on the national average, but we now up to the NE average now.

2. County Durham Plan – Stuart Timmiss, had of Planning & Assets DCC
ST gave a presentation to the Board on the County Durham Plan:

 How much development and direct where it should go
 Provides a catalyst for investment proving certainty to business, communities and 

developers
 Provides a consistent approach to development and resisting inappropriate 

development

The previous plan Inspector’s Interim Report was quashed and we were required to 
withdraw the plan.  Since the last examination a lot has happened, planning has been 
approved for various sites, new sites have come forward and most importantly the economy 
has moved on.

There are still challenges:
 Poorly performing economy 
 Continued austerity and decreased public sector funding
 Businesses require good infrastructure and suited to a range of international, 

national, regional and local markets
 Lack of higher paying jobs
 Low land values in many areas makes viability difficult 
 Ageing population with decreasing numbers of working age people
 Changing shopping patterns affecting our town centres

£3.4bn  has been committed in the pipeline for County Durham.  The main focus for Housing 
is around the main towns.  We have looked at all of the towns in the County and provision of 
schools in the area etc.  Looking now to have more affordable housing 5-25% and be more 
flexible where it should go.  Have to be pragmatic and see where there is need.  Looking at 
infrastructure and how viable this is going forward and how we can contribute to that.  
Broadband is now in and working around rural areas.

The consultation for the County Durham Plan went live on 22nd June and will close on 3rd 
August at 4.30pm.  Everyone is encouraged to submit response.

Page 92



3

3. Summary & Next Steps – Brian Tanner

Questions/comments

It was asked in relation to housing provision how they had come to the level of housing 
needed? The government have identified and simplified and given it a formula.  Already 
have 17000 planning permissions committed.  10% maybe won’t come forward.  Previous 
plan had 6000 houses in green belt now only have 2500.  Every settlement has got 
commitment and allocation going forward.  We are confident that with the existing 
commitment apart from around 10% they will all come forward but this is something we will 
review and monitor.

There have been changes in the High Street and with the move from County Hall to 
Freemans Quay on the horizon, it seems that infrastructure is needed for that move to 
happen, therefore how do you make provision for this? ST mentioned that this is a County 
Plan and not just Durham City.  Looking at all movements, there is a raft of work on 
sustainable travel opportunities with Park and Ride and Northern Relief Roads.  There is a 
sustainable plan for Durham, but there is still a lot of work being undertaken, some are still at 
the beginning of the process.  We are working closely with developers across the city and 
there are opportunities for city centre to have more people spending in the area. 

Are the requirements for Older People is 10% is this enough to meet provision. ST replied 
No as no one wants to build bungalows apart from RSL. Working with the Housing Forum 
whilst looking at the next stage of the plan and we need to make sure we are getting the 
right homes for the right people in the right areas but support is needed.
The Plan will be reviewed every five years and not shelved so we need to keep ongoing 
dialogue going.

BT thanked ST and the group took part in workshop discussions that would feed into the 
County Durham Plan Consultation:

4. Key Areas of influence; Workshops
 Economic Ambition
 Right Homes in Right Places
 Rural employment issues
 Supporting infrastructure

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held 26 June 2018
	7 Tackling Empty Properties Initiative - Overview:
	8 Business Durham:
	092518-EE-CT-Item8-BusDurhamAPP2

	9 Quarter 4, 2017/18 and Quarter 1, 2018/19 Revenue and Capital Outturn:
	092518-EE-CT-Item9ii-Q11819RPt

	10 Quarter 1, 2018/19 Performance Management Report:
	11 Overview and Scrutiny - County Durham Plan Workshop - 9 July 2018 - Overview and Scrutiny Response:
	092518-EE-CT-Item11-CDPResponseApp2

	12 Minutes from the County Durham Economic Partnership meeting held on 5 July 2018

